


SEM is committed to becoming a World Class Stock Exchange. We will strive to position 
the Exchange as a service-driven and operationally excellent organisation with world-
class trading and settlement capabilities, which incorporate and maintain the fundamental 
principles of market integrity, investor protection and efficient discovery. We undertake 
to actively pursue strategies that contribute to the growth of the capital market activities 
in Mauritius. In the pursuance of our mission, we endeavour to further the interests of 
the investing community, the business community, the government and nation, and our 
members, shareholders and employees.
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Key Market Statistics

FINANCIAL YEAR

Total Turnover (Value) Rs’bn 2022 2021 Change(%)

OM 14.8 13.0  13.8

DEM  1.9   0.7 171.4

Number of Sessions 252 249  

Average Daily Turnover (Value) Rs’m

OM 58.6 52.1   12.5

DEM  7.5  3.0 150.0

Total Number of Shares Traded (m)

OM 760.8 451.0   68.7

DEM 322.9  91.3 253.7

Accounts held with the Central Depository & Settlement Co. Ltd (CDS)

Number of Investors registered with CDS 100,331 95,950  4.6

Number of Shares Deposited (bn)     17.2      17  1.2

Aggregate value of shares held (Rs’bn)  384.9 332.4 15.8
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL  YEAR
2022 2021

For the year (Rs'M)
Revenue 166.5 144.2
Other Income 38.2 38.0
Administrative expenses -101.8 -92.9
Operating profit 102.9 89.3
Net profit attributable to equity holders 68.9 61.8
At year-end (Rs'M)
Net Current assets 197.1 154.6
Total assets 906.2 826.6
Total liabilities 121.5 76.1
Shareholders' funds (Rs'M)

 -  Stated Capital 50.1 50.1

 -  Reserves 579.3 553.9

Number of shares issued 5,000,000 5,000,000

Revenue growth 15.5 -14.9

Operating profit margin 61.8 61.9

Net Profit Margin 33.7 33.9

Cost-to-income ratio 49.7 51.0

Return on Equity 10.9 10.2

Per share Data
Basic earnings (Rs) 13.79 12.35

Net Tangible Assets (Rs) 156.9 150.1

Net Dividend (Rs) 7.40 6.46

Definitions 
Operating Profit Margin 
Operating Profit Margin is the operating profit of the group expressed as a percentage of revenue.
 
Net profit Margin
Net profit Margin is the net profit attributable to equity holders, expressed as a percentage of total revenue of the group. 
 
Cost-to-income ratio 
It is the ratio of total expenses to total revenue of the group. 
 
Return on Equity
It is the net profit attributable to equity holders, expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ funds.
 
Net tangible assets 
It is the total assets less total liabilities of the group, divided by the number of shares issued.
 
Net dividend 
It is calculated as the dividends proposed divided by the number of shares issued.



CORPORATE  
REVIEW
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DIPAK CHUMMUN
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales (ICAEW) and holds a degree in Computer 
Science from the University of Manchester. He is the Group 
CFO of IBL Ltd and is a Director of a number of listed, 
regulated and public interest companies including:  Alteo 
Limited, Eagle Insurance Limited, DTOS, Manser Saxon, 
Healthscape and Bloomage. He is also a Member of the 
Economic Development Board. An experienced international 
banking professional, Mr Chummun has over two decades 
held a number of senior positions with Standard Chartered, 
Barclays, Emirates NBD and Deutsche Bank in London, 
Dubai, Singapore and Frankfurt and has previously served 
as an International Advisory Board member of ICAEW in 
London.

NITISH BENIMADHU
Vice Chairman and Non-Executive Director

holds an honours degree in Economics and Masters of Arts 
in Economics from the University of Ottawa (Canada). He 
has more than 18 years’ experience in the finance industry 
and has expertise in asset management, investment advisory 
and insurance.  He is the vice-chairperson of the Central 
Depository & Settlement Co Ltd (CDS) and also holds 
directorship positions on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius, 
Moka City Ltd, Oficea Ltd amongst others and regularly 
lectures at the University of Mauritius in Economics & 
Finance.  He joined Anglo Mauritius Investment Managers 
Ltd (now Swan Wealth Managers Ltd) in 2005 and was 
the Chief Investment Officer of SWAN, heading the non-
insurance cluster (Capital Markets) together with the Loans 
and Property segments till January 2021. He has also served 
as Managing Director, Private Clients & Specialist Services 
within Rogers Capital Management Services Ltd. Nitish 
is now the Chief FinTech Officer of the Mauritius Telecom 
Group and is responsible for all financial services / My.t 
Money and leads strategic initiatives both locally and at the 
international level for the company. Nitish is also a member 
of the Investment and Pensions Committee of MT.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
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PROF. DONALD AH-CHUEN
Non-Executive Director

 
is a fellow member of (a) the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales, and (b) the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Australia.  He holds an MBA degree 
(University of Strathclyde, UK) and is also a M.C.I.P.D. 
(Member of Chartered Institute of Personnel & Development, 
UK). He was formerly Pro-Vice-Chancellor of the University of 
Mauritius and was for many years Chairman of the Tertiary 
Education Commission of Mauritius. He was also Chairman 
of the Mauritius Broadcasting Corporation, the Mauritius 
Institute of Management and the Association of Accountants 
of Mauritius. Furthermore, he was a director of the Bank of 
Mauritius, the Development Bank of Mauritius, and Chairman 
of the Standard Bank (Mauritius) Ltd. Other major positions 
held by him were as President of the Mauritius Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, the Chinese Chamber of Commerce 
and the Commission of Inquiry in the Public Hospital Service 
of Mauritius. Professor Ah-Chuen worked for 12 years in 
Australia where as CEO of the Graham Group of Companies 
and Chairman of the Association of Galvanizing Enterprises 
of Australia he secured an effective collaboration between 
Academia and the Steel Galvanizing Industry. Professor Ah-
Chuen is currently a Director of ABC Motors Company Ltd 
and POLICY Ltd, and Managing Director of ABC Banking 
Corporation Ltd. He was the Chairperson of the SEM in 2018 
and has remained on the Board of Directors, being also a 
member of the SEM’s Corporate Governance & Nomination 
Committee and the Sub-Committee on Listing Matters.In 
2009 he was conferred by Government the distinction of 
G.O.S.K (Grand Officer of the Order of the Star and Key of 
the Indian Ocean) in recognition of his valuable contributions 
to Commerce and Industry, Banking & Financial Services, 
and Tertiary Education.

SUNIL BENIMADHU
Executive Director

joined the SEM as Chief Executive in May 1998. He 
was appointed Executive Director of the SEM in October 
2008. He holds a MBA in Finance and Investment from the 
University of Illinois, United States. He also holds a D.E A. in 
Development Economics and a Maîtrise in Macro-Economics 
from the University of Aix-Marseille, France. Sunil has been 
the Chairman of Global Finance Mauritius from July 2014 to 
October 2020 and is now director of Mauritius Finance. He 
has been a director on the Board of the World Federation 
of Exchanges (WFE), an association of the World’s leading 
Stock Exchanges since 2014. Sunil was the President of 
the African Securities Exchanges Association (ASEA) an 
association of 28 Exchanges operating on the continent, from 
August 2010 to November 2014.  From 2002 to 2004, 
he was a member of the Executive Committee of the South 
Asian Federation of Exchanges (SAFE), which comprises 
twelve Stock Exchanges of the South Asian region. From 
2001 to 2003, he chaired the SADC Committee of Stock 
Exchanges (COSSE), an association of stock exchanges 
which includes ten exchanges of the Southern African region.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (CONT’D)
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REEDHEE ANOUSHKA BHUTTOO
Non-Executive Director 

is the Head of SBM Capital Markets Ltd regrouping the 
activities of Trading, Fund Management, Corporate Finance 
and Structuring within the SBM Group of Companies. 
Currently, she is a Non- Executive Director of the CDS Ltd 
and she is also an Executive Director on several SBM entities. 
Holder of a MSc Financial Economics from the University of 
Mauritius and a Hons. Degree in Economics (first class) from 
the MS University of Baroda, she also holds an advanced 
professional diploma in Marketing from the Chartered 
Institute of Marketing (UK) and is an associate member of the 
Chartered Institute of Securities and Investment (UK).

JÉRÔME DE CHASTEAUNEUF
Non-Executive Director

joined the SEM in December 2020.  He is a Chartered 
Accountant of England and Wales and holds a BSc Honours 
in Economics from the London School of Economics and 
Political Science, UK.  Jérôme is the Group Finance Director 
of CIEL Limited and is also a Director of a number of listed, 
regulated and public interest companies including:  Alteo 
Limited (Chairman as from 25 March 2022), CIEL, Harel 
Mallac & Co. Ltd and Sun Limited.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (CONT’D)
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ANDRÉ CHUNG SHUI
Non-Executive Director

 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee and of the Investment   
Committee.  André holds an economics degree from the 
London School of Economics and is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales.  André held the 
position of Managing Director of Mauritian Eagle Insurance 
from 2011-2014 and of Executive Director of LCF Securities 
Ltd from 2014-17.  He is currently the Managing Director 
of PeaQ Advisors Ltd, a licensed investment advisor from the 
FSC, and is the Executive Director of Klumph Consultants Ltd. 
He is also a fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors.

TOMMY LO SEEN CHONG
Non-Executive Director 

has been professionally involved in the Financial Services 
Sector for over two decades and has witnessed first-hand the 
development of this sector over the years.  He is a founder 
and director of Intercontinental Trust, a leading Management 
Company. Tommy is also the director of Capital Market 
Brokers Ltd.  Of note, is Tommy’s involvement in the setting 
up of Cape Town Stock Exchange, an exchange licensed by 
the South African FSCA operating in South Africa of which 
he is a director.  Prior to moving to this sector Tommy was 
the Finance Director of a major local group of companies 
involved in a vast array of economic activities inclusive of but 
not limited to real estate, trading and leisure.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (CONT’D)
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SHIVRAJ KEVIN RANGASAMI
Non-Executive Director

reckons more than 20 years of experience in financial 
services, having started his career with De Chazal Du 
Mée (now BDO Mauritius) before joining MCB Capital 
Markets, the investment banking, proprietary investment and 
investment management arm of the MCB Group, to head the 
Fund Management business. He is currently the Managing 
Director of the Brokerage and Investments division of MCB 
Capital Markets Ltd. Kevin is a former Chairman of the SEM 
and a former non-executive director of the Central Depositary 
& Settlement Co Ltd. He is a member of the Mauritius Institute 
of Professional Accountants (MIPA) and of the CFA Society 
of Mauritius (CFASM) and a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA). Kevin also holds a 
Global MBA from the Alliance Manchester Business School, 
UK.

ASHLEY COOMAR (KABIR) RUHEE
Non-Executive Director

holds a first degree in Mathematics and Physics from the 
Faculté des Sciences de Luminy, Marseilles and a M.Eng 
in Automatic Control, Electronics and Computer Engineering 
from the Institut National des Sciences Appliquées, Toulouse. 
He also completed Executive Education Programmes at the 
London Business School, at INSEAD in Singapore and IMD 
in Lausanne. He worked from 2000 to 2005 for Capgemini 
Telecom, Media and Entertainment - Central and Southern 
Europe as a Senior Technology Consultant and Project 
Leader. He joined DCDM Consulting (a company managed 
by Accenture) in 2005, as a Manager in their management 
consulting practice. Kabir joined Rogers and Company Ltd, 
a listed international services and investment company with 
more than 120 years of existence in 2007. He held the 
position of Chief Information and Planning Executive of the 
Cim Group, the financial services arm of Rogers from 2008 
to 2012 while concurrently acting as Managing Director 
of Enterprise Information Solutions Ltd. He was the Chief 
Executive Officer of Rogers Technology since 2012 and 
was concurrently appointed as the Managing Director of 
AXA Customer Services Ltd, a subsidiary of AXA Partners in 
France. Since February 2017, Kabir is the Chief Executive 
Officer of Rogers Capital Ltd, the Financial Services and 
Technology served market of the Rogers Group. He is an 
Executive Director of Rogers and Company Ltd since July 
2017 and acts as a Director on several Group companies. 
Kabir is also a Director of Amethis Finance, one of the largest 
Private Equity Funds in Africa and Swan Financial Solutions 
Ltd. He was selected as one of the young African economic 
leaders of tomorrow by the Institut Choiseul for International 
Politics and Geoeconomics in Paris for four consecutive years 
(2014-17). He is the Honorary Consul of the Republic of 
Lithuania in Mauritius and a member of the Young President’s 
Organization (‘YPO’) since 2017. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (CONT’D)
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MANVENDRA (SHERRY) SINGH
Non-Executive Director

 
Chief Executive Officer of Mauritius Telecom since February 
2015, is an ICT and Marketing professional with more 
than 20 years’ experience in the Telecommunications 
and Marketing industry. He started his career in 1999 
and quickly rose to become the Marketing and Customer 
Service Manager in a well-established Mauritian telecom 
company, where he had the opportunity to undergo specific 
training in world renowned international telecommunications 
companies based in the UK, Sweden and Sri Lanka. In 2003, 
he started his own business, specialised in marketing and 
telecommunications services. He held the position of Senior 
Adviser to the Vice-Prime Minister and Minister of Finance 
and Economic Development from July 2010 to July 2011. 
During the same period, he was a board director of the State 
Investment Corporation, the Mauritius Duty Free Paradise 
and the State Land Development Company. In February 
2017, Sherry Singh was appointed as Special Adviser to 
the Prime Minister of Mauritius. At the beginning of 2020, he 
was nominated as board member of Air Mauritius and had 
the responsibility of chairing Air Mauritius’ Transformation 
Steering Committee. The FTTX Council Africa has recognised 
Sherry Singh’s exceptional leadership qualities and his 
strategic role in making Mauritius the most connected country 
in Africa: he was awarded the Industry Personality of the 
Year in 2017 and the Leadership Award in 2018. In July 
2019, the honorary degree, Doctor Honoris Causa, was 
conferred on him by Middlesex University London. In the 
same year, Sherry Singh was appointed as SATA Chairman 
for the year 2019-2020 during the 39th Annual Conference 
held in Mauritius. Due to the challenges of the Covid-19 
pandemic, his Chairmanship was unanimously extended by 
the SATA board for the year 2020-2021. 

JAIYANSING SHAILEN SOOBAH 
Non-Executive Director 

is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, holds an MBA and is a Chartered Governance 
Professional.  He started his career with De Chazal Du 
Mée (now BDO) where he spent 10 years in the audit and 
offshore departments.  In 2003, he moved to the Financial 
Services Commission where he was officer-in-charge of the 
insurance supervision department. In 2009, he joined CIM 
Group,and was subsequently appointed as Senior Manager 
Compliance of the insurance and investment cluster.  He is 
currently Senior Manager at SWAN, holding the positions 
of Group Company Secretary and Risk Officer. Shailen is a 
director of a number of companies at SWAN and a Non-
Executive Director of the CDS.

CONRAD COLIMALAY
Non-Executive Director 

alternate to Mr Manvendra Singh, is qualified as a Barrister-
at-Law. He holds a Master’s in Business Law (UK) and a 
Maîtrise en Droit (France). He officiates as Company 
Secretary of Mauritius Telecom and of MT subsidiary 
companies, and is in charge of Legal and Corporate Affairs 
within the Mauritius Telecom (MT) Group. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (CONT’D)
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SEM MANAGEMENT PROFILE 

SUNIL BENIMADHU
Chief Executive
Please refer to Directors’ Profile on page 6 of this Annual Report.

VICKRAM RAMFUL
Head of Listing

Vickram is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He holds a 
BA (Hons) in Business Accounting from the University of Lincolnshire and Humberside 
(UK) and an MBA in Finance. He joined the SEM in 2005 as Financial Analyst and 
was appointed as Corporate Finance Manager in November 2007. On 15th July 
2016, he was appointed as Head of Listing.  He is a member of the Mauritius Institute 
of Professional Accountants (MIPA) and the ACCA Mauritius Branch.

PAMELA LI CHUN FONG
Manager Finance and Administration

Pamela is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and also 
holds a Diploma in Accountancy.  She joined the SEM in 1995 as Accountant 
and currently holds the position of Manager Finance and Administration.  She was 
appointed Company Secretary and has served on the SEM Board from October 
2018 to February 2022. She is also Secretary to various sub-Committees of the 
Board.   She is a member of the Mauritius Institute of Professional Accountants (MIPA) 
and the ACCA Mauritius Branch.
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SEM MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONT’D) 

SHALINI GOKHOOL
Manager, Legal Affairs

Shalini holds an LLB (Hons) and has also completed the Vocational Course for 
Barristers at the Mauritius Council of Legal Education in 1997. Having acquired 
experience in legal firms and in the banking sector, she joined the SEM in 2001 as 
Manager Legal Affairs.

AVISH GOOMANY
Assistant Manager, Trading & Market Surveillance

Avish holds  a BSc (Hons) Finance from the University of Mauritius. He joined the SEM 
in December 2007 as Research Assistant. Having more than 13 years’ experience 
in the Trading and Surveillance Department of the SEM, he has been appointed as 
Assistant Manager, Trading & Market Surveillance in February 2022.

NISHAN AUBEELUCK
Manager Market Data, Market Development and Corporate Affairs

Nishan holds an MSc in International Business (Economics and Finance) from the 
University of Melbourne. He joined the SEM in 2004 and holds the position of 
Manager Market Data, Market Development and Corporate Affairs. Nishan is a 
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australia and the Finance and Treasury 
Association (FTA). He is also member of the Technology Working Group of the World 
Federation of Exchanges (WFE), as well as member of the Commercial Committee for 
the African Exchanges Linkage Project (AELP). 
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The Board of Directors has pleasure in presenting the thirty third (33rd) Annual Report of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) 
for the year ended 30 June 2022.    

This Annual Report, which comprises the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company, the Corporate Governance 
Report and other statutory disclosures pursuant to Section 221 of the Companies Act 2001, has been approved by the Board 
of the SEM at a meeting held on 22nd September 2022.

Principal activities of the Group and the Company

The principal activities of the SEM, as defined by its Constitution, are:  1)  to operate and maintain a securities exchange in 
accordance with law; 2)  to provide facilities for the buying and selling and otherwise dealing in securities on a securities 
exchange;  3)  to provide and maintain, to the satisfaction of the Financial Services Commission (FSC) adequate and properly 
equipped premises for the conduct of its business; and 4)  to have operating rules for the markets it operates pursuant to law.
The principal activities of its Subsidiary Company, the Central Depository and Settlement Co. Ltd (CDS), as defined by the 
Securities (Central Depository, Clearing and Settlement) Act 1996, are to provide depository, clearing and settlement services 
in order to facilitate dealings in securities on the Exchange.

Group Results 

The total income of the group for FY 2022 amounted to Rs204.7 m, an increase of 12.3% on FY 2021 (Rs182.2 m).Group 
expenses stood at Rs101.8 m in FY 2022, an increase of 9.6% on FY 2021 (Rs92.9 m). This resulted in Group Profit After Tax 
of Rs85.6 m for the FY 2022, an increase of 15.5% on FY 2021 (Rs74.1 m).

Group Total Income Dividend Per Share Group Profit

Shareholders Funds Net Asset value Per Share 

Rs
’M Rs
’M
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Rs 204.7m Rs 7.4m Rs 85.6m
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Shareholders’ funds increased by 4.2% over the preceding year, reaching a total value of Rs629.3m as at 30 June 2022 (FY 
2021: Rs603.9m).  Dividend Per Share was calculated at Rs7.40 for the FY 2022 (FY 2021: Rs6.46).  The Net Asset Value 
Per Share was Rs157.14 for the FY 2022, an increase of 4.7% on FY 2021 (Rs150.10). 

Company Results

SEM’s total income for FY 2022 amounted to Rs141.9m, an increase of 10.4% over the FY 2021 (Rs128.5m). Total expenses 
were Rs76.9m, an increase of 24.8% over FY 2021 (Rs61.6m). The Net Profit After Tax for the Company was Rs61.7m, an 
increase of 8.2% over FY 2021 (Rs57m).
The Shareholders’ funds at 30 June 2022 amounted to Rs491.0m, showing an increase of 3.9% as compared to FY 2021 
(Rs472.5m).

Dividends

At its meeting held on 23 June 2022, in line with SEM’s approved dividend policy, the SEM Board approved a total dividend 
payment of Rs37m for the FY 2022 payable to the Ordinary Shareholders of the SEM (FY 2021: Rs32.3m).

Auditors

In accordance with Section 221 (1) (h) of the Companies Act 2001, the Remuneration of the Auditors is disclosed in note 17 
of the audited financial statements.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT 

The financial year 2021-2022 was widely regarded as a period during which the global economy would at long- last turn its 
back on the hugely damaging human, social and economic impacts of Covid-19 and embark on the long-awaited recovery 
process after one and a half years of unforeseen pains.

The emergence of the Omicron variant temporarily dented this optimism, but fortunately, its impact was swiftly contained given its 
lack of virulence. Just as the world economy started to revert slowly to its pre-COVID level of economic activity, the on-start of the 
Russia-Ukraine war put an abrupt end to this positive outlook and sent all hopes of a rapid global economy recovery crashing.

The disruptions caused by the war unleashed a new wave of inflationary pressures at the global level, pushing inflation rates 
in many countries to levels unseen since the stagflation era of 1970s and early 1980s. Central banks across the globe were 
pressurized, in spite of an overall lame global economic environment, to tighten their monetary policies and increase their 
benchmark interest rates. Given the intrinsic links between interest rates and asset pricing, the internalization by investors of a 
wave of future interest rate increases has weighed negatively on stock prices across the globe. In fact, the World Federation 
of Exchanges has reported that USD 18 Trillion have been wiped off global markets during the first six months of 2022 alone, 
representing a drop in global market capitalisation of around 15%.

It is against this highly negative backdrop for stock markets that we present our analysis of the SEM’s performance in 2021-
2022.

Market Performance and Highlights in 2021-2022

The local market started the fiscal year 2021-2022 on a strong footing, recovering from the pandemic-induced losses. From the 
beginning of the year till the 16th of November 2021, the SEMDEX and the SEMTRI gained 15.3% and 15.8% respectively, 
a notable performance driven by the optimism that the announcement of the opening of borders in Mauritius had generated, 
the increased pace of vaccination rollouts and the good financial results of some bellwether stocks. However, the fear of a fast-
spreading Omicron variant reversed this upward trend and sent the SEMDEX and the SEMTRI tail-spinning into a loss of 6.58% 
and 5.55% respectively within the span of less than 3 weeks. However, once the market learnt that Omicron did not represent a 
serious health threat, confidence returned and the market resumed its upward trend for nearly two months until the beginning of 
the Russia-Ukraine war. The uncertainty triggered by the Russia-Ukraine war pushed the market once again into negative territory 
for a few weeks.  

Following the publication of good quarterly results by a few highly capitalized stocks, the total return indices, SEMTRI and 
SEMTRI-ASI, reached new record levels of 9182.32 points and 8464.24 points respectively on 4 May 2022. However, the 
roller-coaster evolution of the market, a hall-mark in this rather highly unusual geo-economic environment, resumed given the rather 
drawn-out nature of the Russia-Ukraine war and its hugely disruptive impact on global inflation. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT (CONT’D) 

Despite facing various exogenous shocks during the fiscal year 2021-2022, the local market demonstrated relative resilience 
when compared with a few developed, emerging, and African markets as illustrated in the table below.

Country Index Return (%)

Mauritius SEMDEX 14.2

UK FTSE-100 1.9

India BSE SENSEX 1.0

Morocco MASI -3.2

China SHANGHAI COMPOSITE -5.4

Japan NIKKEI 225 -8.3

France CAC-40 -9.0

United States DOW JONES -10.8

Philippines PSEi -10.8

Germany DAX -17.7

Brazil BVSP -22.3

Kenya NASI -28.3

The SEMDEX and the SEMTRI ended the year with double-digit gains of 14.2% and 17.8% respectively. The Blue-Chip index, 
SEM-10, wrapped up the year with a growth of 11.7%. On the Development and Enterprise Market (DEM), the DEMEX and the 
DEMTRI reached new heights on 4 April 2022, closing at 313.53 points and 472.79 points respectively, and grew by 4.1% 
and 6.7% respectively during the year.

On 30 June 2022, the total market capitalization of the SEM stood at Rs 393.27 billion, which represents 82% of the country’s 
GDP. Investors capitalized on the high volatility throughout the year and as a result, the volume of shares traded on the Official 
Market grew by 68.7% over last year to reach 451 million at the end of the year. On the DEM, the volume of shares exchanged 
grew by 253.6% and stood at 322.9 million at end of June 2022. The total value traded on the SEM amounted to Rs 16.7 
billion during the year representing a growth of 21.5%. Issuers used the SEM’s multi-currency platform to raise Rs 18.7 billion 
during the year. 

On the listings front, activities picked up during the financial year 2021-2022 with the listing of 20 new securities , comprising 2 
Global Business Companies, 16 classes of Specialist Debt Securities and 2 DEM Companies (2020 – 2021: 7).  The listings of 
the 2 DEM Companies, Velogic Holding Company Limited and Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd were made through IPO’s.  Ascencia 
Ltd migrated its securities from the DEM to the Official Market during the year and is now among the largest companies listed 
on the SEM by market capitalisation. 
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Initiatives in 2021 - 2022

Despite the rather unconducive business and economic environment, 2021-2022 was marked by several changes aimed at 
improving the SEM’s services towards its stakeholders and enhancing the Exchange’s competitive edge in the region. Some of 
the initiatives implemented during the year are presented below.

• In May 2021, the SEM had selected Securities & Trading Technology (Pty) Ltd (STT) as the supplier of SEM’s new ATS after 
a bidding process. Accordingly, the SEM was focused on implementing the ATS between the end of 2021 and 13 May 
2022, the launch date of the new ATS. The new ATS contains features and functionalities which will enable the SEM to 
continue on the path of innovation in pursuing its internationalisation strategy. It will also facilitate the SEM’s access to the 
derivatives space in the future, to introduce new products, including futures and options on foreign underlyings.

• The SEM has also worked during the year on a revamped, new-look and fully-responsive mySEM app which went live on 13 
May 2022, complementing the overhaul of SEM’s technological infrastructure following the launch of a new ATS. The new 
mySEM app retains the key features of the previous one, and introduces new and enhanced interactive app functionalities 
for the benefit of investors. 

• In line with the SEM’s sustainability agenda, the SEM welcomed two new companies to the SEMSI: ENL Limited and 
Ascencia Ltd. As at the financial year-end, the number of companies in SEMSI increased to 17 constituents with a market 
capitalisation of MUR 203 Billion (2021: MUR 135 Billion). 

• The SEM has made several key changes to its regulatory framework during 2021-2022 to keep abreast with the developments 
in international capital markets and maintain SEM’s competiveness. The main amendments made to the Listing Rules and 
DEM Rules are as follows:

• The required time delay between the approval of a listing and the first day of listing has been reduced from 14 days 
to 5 business days, with a view of shortening the overall listing process, hence making the SEM more attractive for 
issuers seeking a listing. 

• Listed issuers have been provided with the option of publishing their communiques and financial statements on their 
website instead of the printed press. This is not only aligned with the SEM’s objective of promoting sustainability but is 
also expected to lead to a decrease in the cost of regulatory compliance for listed issuers.

• The process for granting waivers in the context of post-listing obligations have been simplified, as the prior approval 
of the Financial Services Commission is no longer required. The turnaround time for considering waivers has, thus, 
been significantly reduced.

Initiatives for 2022 - 2023

The SEM is pleased to report that the African Exchanges Linkage Project (AELP) is reaching completion and will go live by the 
end of 2022. AELP is aimed at facilitating cross-border trading of securities, improving the depth and liquidity of Africa’s capital 
markets and fostering investment flows among the 7 participating Exchanges, including the SEM. Over time, we expect that 
AELP will provide a boost to liquidity on the SEM.  However, for this initiative to be a success, listed companies will need to 
reach out to the brokers on the other foreign participating exchanges to sensitise them about their growth prospects and why 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT (CONT’D)
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their businesses offer good investment opportunities. The SEM will write to the listed companies prior to the launch of AELP to 
inform them of the unique opportunities that the project presents and the importance of engaging with the foreign brokers in a 
sustained manner. 

The new ATS of the SEM has facilitated the integration of remote members to our platform. Consequently, despite the difficult 
economic environment, the SEM will work towards attracting remote members, initially from South Africa and Kenya, during 
the Financial Year 2022 – 2023. The objective of this initiative is to increase the investor base of our market and attract more 
global order flows to our platform.

Prior to the emergence of COVID-19, the option of raising capital and seeking a listing through Special Purpose Acquisition 
Companies (SPACs) had gathered momentum in developed markets, although this momentum has, since, been dampened by 
the pandemic.  The SEM has drafted a new Schedule to the DEM Rules to cater for the listing of SPACs on our platform and is 
waiting for regulatory approval for these new rules. We expect that the rules will be implemented by the end of 2022.

The SEM is also in discussion with an international firm specialised in sharia-compliant financial instruments for a partnership 
to jointly introduce a suite of Islamic securities on the SEM, such as sukuk bonds. This initiative will allow the SEM to add new 
asset classes to its platform in line with its strategy to strengthen its position as a multi-asset class international stock exchange.

Outlook

We expect the Financial Year 2022 – 2023 to be a very challenging one for businesses at the global level. The hawkish 
stance of Central Banks will continue to prevail until there are clear signs that inflation has started abating. The world’s leading 
economies are expected to face recession in 2023 and at this stage, it is expected that even 2024 may be a tough year from 
a growth perspective. Against this backdrop and given that the Mauritian economy derives much of its growth from the external 
world, the local stock market is expected to operate in a rather challenging environment in 2022 – 2023.
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Introduction

The SEM is a Public Interest Entity as defined by the Financial Reporting Act 2004. 

The Board of the SEM is accountable to the company’s shareholders for the overall direction and control of the Company.  It is 
committed to high standards of governance designed to protect the interests of its shareholders and all other stakeholders, while 
promoting the highest standards of integrity, transparency and accountability.  

Compliance with Governance Standards

The SEM Board ensures that the company’s policies and practices in the critical areas of financial reporting, remuneration 
reporting and corporate governance meet high levels of disclosure and comply with the eight principles of the New Code of 
Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016), as well as the Securities Act 2005, the Financial Services Act 2007 and the 
relevant regulations and rules made under these Acts.  

Principle 01 : Governance Structure

‘All organisations should be headed by an effective Board. Responsibilities and accountabilities within the organisation should 
be clearly defined.’

The Board of the SEM assumes responsibility for leading and controlling the organisation and meeting all legal and regulatory 
requirements.  The following key governance documents were approved by the SEM Board and are available on the SEM 
website:

• SEM Board Charter
• Code of Corporate Behaviour
• Position Statements of the Chairperson and the Company Secretary
• Job description of the Senior Management team.
• Organisation Chart 

SEM CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 2021-2022
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OTHER STAKEHOLDERS:
» Investment Dealers
» Listed Companies
» Investors
» Data Vendors
» Suppliers

OTHER COMMITTEES  
OF THE SEM:

» Listing Executive Committee
» Index Management Committee
» Consultative & Informative

EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS

FINANCIAL 
SERVICES 

COMMISSION

SEM’S GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

(Appointment)

(Appointment)

(Appointment)

(Reporting)

(Reporting)

(Reporting)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SEM

SEM MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

OPERATIONS OF THE SEM

SEM BOARD COMMITTEES
» Corporate Governance & Nomination 

Committee
» Remuneration Committee       
» Audit & Risk Management Committee
» Sub-Committee on Listing matters
» Investment Committee
» Strategic & Developmental Committee

(Overview) (Reporting)

(Supervise) (Reporting)

(Conduct Audit)

The following illustration depicts the Corporate Governance framework adopted by the SEM and outlines the lines of reporting 
of the SEM’s organisation, the SEM Board and its Committees for the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE SEM

Election of 12 Directors:
- 2 Members of Industry
- 2 Independent Directors
- 1 Executive Director

Approval of appointment  
(Pursuant to section 24 of the 
Financial Services Act 2007)
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Principle 02 : The Structure of the Board and its Committees

‘The Board should contain independently minded directors.  It should include an appropriate combination of executive directors, 
independent directors and non-independent non-executive directors to prevent one individual or a small group of individuals 
from dominating the Board’s decision taking.  The Board should be of a size and level of diversity commensurate with the 
sophistication and scale of the organisation. Appropriate Board committees may be set up to assist the Board in the effective 
performance of its duties.’

Size and Composition of the SEM Board

The Constitution of the SEM provides for a maximum number of twelve directors. Accordingly, in 2021-2022, the Board of 
directors consisted of twelve (12) directors, including two (2) independent directors and one (1) executive director.  All non-
executive directors are independent of the management of the SEM, in line with Section 18 of The Securities Act 2005.

The Chief Executive of the SEM is the executive director. The Board is of the view that due to the relative small size of the 
Company, there is no need to appoint a second executive director.

The SEM has a unitary Board which has an appropriate mix of gender, skills and experience to enable it to carry out its duties 
and responsibilities in an effective and competent manner. For the year under review, the SEM’s Board comprised of one (1) 
woman director.

Terms of office

In accordance with the provisions of Clause 21.3(c) and Clause 23.1(b) of the SEM Constitution, the term of office of the 
Directors is for two years and the term of office of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman is for a maximum of two continuous 
terms of two years or such shorter periods as the Board may decide.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is appointed by the Board in accordance with the provisions of the SEM’s Constitution.  Mr Christophe 
Neveu was appointed Company Secretary on 20 January 2022. The position statement for the Company Secretary, which was 
duly approved by the Board is available on the SEM Website.

The status of directors and the names of members sitting on Board of the SEM for the year ended 30 June 2022 are disclosed 
in the following table:

Name Status Residency
Mr Dipak Chummun Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder, Chairperson Mauritius

Mr Nitish Benimadhu Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder, Vice Chairperson Mauritius

Mr Sunil Benimadhu Executive Director appointed by the Board, Chief Executive Mauritius

Mr Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Professor Donald Ah Chuen Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Andre Chung Shui Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Shivraj (‘Kevin’) Rangasami Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mrs Reedhee (‘Anoushka’) Bhuttoo Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Manvendra Singh Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Ashley Coomar (‘Kabir’) Ruhee Independent / Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius

Mr Louis Jean Jérôme de 
Chasteauneuf Independent / Non-Executive Director, appointed by Shareholder Mauritius
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The profile of the directors sitting on the Board of the SEM for the financial year ended 30 June 2022, are disclosed on pages 
…............................. to …............................. of the Annual Report.

SEM  BOARD  COMMITTEES

Corporate Governance Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• Ensure reporting requirements on Corporate Governance are in 
accordance with the principles of the Code;

• Determine, agree and develop policies on corporate governance in 
accordance with the principles of the Code;

• Ensure disclosures are made in the Annual Report in compliance with the 
disclosure provisions in the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius.

Nomination Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• Recommend the appointment of executive and non-executive directors;
• Make recommendations on the Board structure, size and composition;
• Identify and nominate candidates to fill Board vacancies and put in place 

plans for succession;
• Make recommendations to the Board regarding the composition of Board 

Committees;
• Overseeing the board self-evaluation process and reviewing the results 

thereof;
• Recommend continuation of service for directors reaching the age of 70;
• Recommend directors retiring by rotation for re-election. 

Remuneration Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• Determine, agree and develop the Company’s policy on executive and 
senior management remuneration;

• Determine specific remuneration packages for executive directors of the 
company;

• Determine the level of non-executive & independent non-executive directors 
fees.  

Audit & Risk Management Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• Recommend the appointment of external auditors to the Board; 
• Review the audit strategy and agree on the timing and nature of reports 

from the external auditors;
• Examine and review the financial statements and ensure they comply with 

the accounting standards and with legal requirements
• Monitor and review the effective functioning of the internal control systems 

and reporting;
• Monitor and review the risk management framework. 

Sub-Committee on Listing matters Approved Terms of Reference

• To review the quarterly report of the Listing Division on matters pertaining 
to the continuing listing obligations of listed companies;

• To approve, in specific cases, proposed sanctions taken by the SEM 
against listed companies;

• To report to the Board of Directors on matters that may result in the 
eventual suspension or withdrawal of a listed company. 
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SEM  BOARD  COMMITTEES

Strategic & Developmental Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• To discuss on matters pertaining to the Strategic Policy of the SEM;
• To report to the Board of Directors on any outcome of matters pertaining 

to the 
• Strategic policy of the SEM.

Investment  Committee Approved Terms of Reference

• To determine and review the Investment Policy and Guidelines to be 
adopted by SEM Management for taking investment decisions. 

• To ensure that investments made by the SEM, is in line with the approved 
Investment Policy and Guidelines.

• To consider and approve proposals from SEM Management that may 
exceed the maximum percentage stipulated in the Investment Policy and 
Guidelines.

• To assess, analyze and review the performance of the investments 
undertaken by the SEM.

• To report to the Board on investments undertaken by SEM on an annual 
basis.

• - To review and amend the Investment Policy and Guidelines from time 
to time, in line with the changing market environment and the evolution of 
the financial market.

SEM Board Committees and Sub-Committees

The Board of the SEM is accountable to shareholders for the strategic direction of the Company and the pursuit of value 
creation for shareholders.  The Board delegates the implementation of its strategy to its management within a formal delegation 
framework.  However, the Board remains ultimately responsible for corporate governance and the affairs of the Company.

The Board has established the following Committees and has entrusted them with specific responsibilities to oversee the affairs of 
the Company, with authority to act on behalf of the Board in accordance with their respective Terms of Reference (TOR):

 - Corporate Governance Committee, which encompasses the Nomination and the Remuneration Committees;
 - Audit and Risk Management Committee;
 - Sub-committee on listing matters
 - Strategic & Developmental Committee
 - Investment Committee.



24 SEM CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 2021-2022 (CONT’D)

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEM Board and Board Committee Meetings

The directors’ attendance at the SEM Board and Board Committee meetings during the past financial year 2021-2022 are 
detailed in the table below: 

SEM BOARD 
AUDIT & RISK 

MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION  
COMMITTEE

Name of Director MH MA MH MA MH MA

Mr Jaiyansingh Shailen Soobah 5 5 1 1

Mr Dipak Chummun 5 4   

Mr Sunil Benimadhu 5 5 1 1

Mr Nitish Benimadhu 5 5   

Mrs Reedhee (‘Anoushka’) Bhuttoo 5 5   

Professor Donald Ah Chuen 5 4     

Mr André Chung Shui 5 5 2 2   

Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong 5 5     

Mr  Manvendra Sherry Singh1 5 0     

Mr. Conrad Colimalay 
(alternate to Mr Sherry Singh) 5 3

Mr Shivraj (‘Kevin’) Rangasami 5 4   1 1

Mr Ashley Coomar (‘Kabir’) Ruhee 5 3 2 2 1 1

Mr Louis Jean  Jérome de Chasteauneuf 5 5 2 2   

MA : Represents the number of meeting attended during the year. 
MH : Represents the number of meetings held.
1 : Mr Manvendra Sherry Singh resigned as Director as from 01 July 2022
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Membership and Meetings
 

Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee 

The Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director.   
During the year 2022, the following persons sat as Members of the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee: 

• Mr. Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah (Chairperson and Non-Executive Director).
• Professor Donald Ah Chuen (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Dipak Chummun  (Non-Executive Director) 
• Mr Sunil Benimadhu (Chief Executive and Executive Director) 

Mrs Manjeet Bucktowarsing acts as secretary to the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee.

Reporting and Accountability

The Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee, through its Chairperson, is accountable to the Board for its activities 
and makes recommendations to the Board on matters falling under its responsibility.  The Corporate Governance and Nomination 
Committee meets as and when necessary and did not meet during the year under review.

Remuneration Committee

During the year 2022, the following persons sat as Members of the Remuneration Committee:
• Mr Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah (Non-Executive Director and Chairperson)
• Mr. Kevin Rangasami (Non-Executive Director) 
• Mr Kabir Ruhee (Independent and Non-Executive Director)
• Mr Sunil Benimadhu (Chief Executive and Executive Director)

Mrs Pamela Li Chun Fong acts as secretary to the Remuneration Committee.

Meetings

The RC meets as and when necessary and one meeting was held during the financial year 2022. In line with its Terms of 
Reference, the RC approved the performance/Special bonuses of the Chief Executive and SEM staff for the year ended 30 June 
2022 and the remuneration packages of the Chief Executive and SEM staff for the forthcoming financial year 2022- 2023. 

Remuneration  Philosophy

At each year-end, the employees’ remunerations and the performance bonuses are reviewed and approved by the Members of 
the RC.  The salaries are reviewed in accordance with the group policy of salary adjustment and as per the recommendations 
of the Chief Executive and takes into consideration, the rate of inflation for the year.  The Remuneration strategy also includes 
assessing if remuneration is market competitive and is designed to attract, motivate and retain employees.  The RC also makes 
recommendation to the Board as regards to the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee

The composition of the Committee was reviewed by the Board in the previous year to include a majority of independent directors. 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee for the year 2021-2022 comprised the following three non-executive directors:

• Mr Jérôme de Chasteauneuf (Independent Director and Chairperson)
• Mr André Chung Shui (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr Kabir Ruhee (Independent Director)

Mr Christophe Neveu acts as Secretary to the Committee.  The Chief Executive and the Manager Finance and Administration 
also attend the Audit Committee meetings by invitation.

Reporting and Accountability

The Audit and Risk Management Committee through its Chairperson is accountable to the Board for its activities and makes 
recommendations to the Board on matters falling under its responsibility;

The Chairperson of the Audit Committee, or, in his absence, an alternate member attends the annual meeting to answer questions 
concerning matters falling within the ambit of the Committee.

Meetings

The Audit and Risk Management Committee meets as and when necessary and met twice during the financial year 2021-2022.  
In line with its terms of reference, the scope of work of the Committee included; review of audited accounts, annual report, 
budget, declaration of dividend and appointment of auditors and fixing of their remuneration.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises four non-executive directors and one Executive Director.  Members for the year 2022 were:
• Mr. Shivraj Kevin Rangasami (Non-Executive Director and Chairperson)
• Mr. André Chung Shui (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Nitish Benimadhu (Non-Executive Director)
• Mrs Reedhee Bhuttoo (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Sunil Benimadhu (Chief Executive and Executive Director) 

Mrs Pamela Li Chun Fong (Manager Finance and Administration) also attends the Investment Committee.
Miss Leena Dhunnoo acts as Secretary to the Investment Committee.
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Reporting and Accountability

The Investment Committee through its Chairperson is accountable to the Board on all matters pertaining to all investments made 
by the Company.  In line with its terms of reference, the scope of work of the Committee included; follow up on the financial 
soundness of the financial institutions where the SEM had made investments and overview of SEM investments. 

Meetings

The Investment Committee meets as and when necessary.  No meeting was held during the financial year 2021 -2022. 

Sub-committee on listing matters

The Sub-committee on listing matters comprises two non-executive directors. Members for the year were: Prof. Donald Ah Chuen 
(Chairperson) and Mr. Dipak Chummun. The Chief Executive and the Head of Listing are also members of the Sub-committee. 
The Manager Legal Affairs acts as secretary to the Sub-committee.

Reporting and Accountability

The Sub-committee on the supervision of listing matters through its Chairperson is accountable to the Board for its activities and 
makes recommendations to the Board on matters falling under its responsibilities.

Meetings

The Listing Division sends periodic reports on a quarterly basis to apprise the sub-committee members of on-going listing issues 
as well as on the financial monitoring of Listed companies.  Meetings of the Sub-committee may be held as and when necessary 
during the year to consider specific cases referred to it by the SEM. No meeting of the Sub-committee on the supervision of listing 
matters was held during the financial year 2021-2022, but members were kept fully apprised of all impending issues and on 
the financial status of companies monitored through periodic reporting.

Strategic & Developmental Committee

The Strategic & Developmental Committee comprises seven Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director. The following 
directors were elected to sit as Members of the Strategic Committee for the financial year ended 2022: 

• Mr. Dipak Chummun (Non-Executive Director and Chairperson)
• Mr. Nitish Benimadhu (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Shivraj Rangasami (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Tommy Lo Seen Chong (Non-Executive Director)
• Mrs Reedhee Bhuttoo (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr Kabir Ruhee (Independent Non-Executive Director)
• Mr Manvendra S.Singh (Non-Executive Director)
• Mr. Sunil Benimadhu (Chief Executive and Executive Director)

Mrs Pamela Li Chun Fong acts as secretary to the Committee.Reporting and Accountability
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The Strategic & Developmental Committee, through its Chairperson, is accountable to the Board on all matters pertaining to 
the Strategic Policy of the SEM and makes recommendations to the Board on all matters pertaining to the Strategic Policy to be 
adopted by the SEM.

Meetings

Meetings of the Strategic & Developmental Committee are held as and when necessary during the year to discuss on matters 
pertaining to the future strategic policy of the SEM.  No meeting of the Committee was held during the financial year 2021-
2022.
  

Other Sub-Committees of the SEM

Along with the SEM Board Committees, the SEM has also set-up three other Sub-Committees, namely;
• the Consultative and Informative Committee
• the Index Management Committee
• the Listing Executive Committee

The Terms of Reference for the three Sub-Committees are disclosed in the table below:

CONSULTATIVE AND INFORMATIVE 
COMMITTEE  INDEX  MANAGEMENT  COMMITTEE  LISTING  EXECUTIVE  

COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference Terms of Reference Terms of Reference

Discuss issues related to trading activ-
ities, operational aspect of the ATS & 
CDS Systems, new products and devel-
opment of the market.

Establish the criteria and procedures for 
selection of the constituents of the SEM-
10;

Determine the suitability of applications 
for  listing;

Determine the base period and value and 
to formulate a scientific and transparent 
methodology of index calculation;

Recommend changes to Listing Rules and 
Rules of the Development & Enterprise 
Market (DEM) to the Board;

Review, monitor and maintain 
periodically the SEM-10 and consider 
the development of sectoral indices.

Assess cases of apparent breaches of 
the Listing Rules / DEM Rules and make 
recommendations to the Board for their 
adjudication;

The inclusion or exclusion of a constituent 
in the SEM-10 is at the discretion of an 
independently constituted IMC. This 
discretion shall only be used in the spirit 
of furthering the objectives of the SEM-
10.

Assess cases on the suspension or 
cancellation of a listing on the Exchange 
and refer to the Board for consideration.
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Consultative and Informative Committee (CIC)

The CIC comprises of representatives of SEM, CDS, Investment Dealers and Custodian Banks. It does not have executive 
powers, but can make recommendations to the Board. The Chief Executive of SEM acts as Chairperson of the Committee.

Meetings

The Committee meets as and when the need arises and met twice during the year. The main issues discussed by the Committee 
included amendments brought to the Trading Procedures, the new ATS Project, the African Stock Exchanges Linkage Project and 
the Venture Market.

Index Management Committee (IMC) 

The Index Management Committee, which is composed of investment dealers, fund managers, academics, and officials from the 
Stock Exchange of Mauritius, ensures that the process of building and maintaining the SEM-10 Index is as interactive as possible. 
Members who sat on the IMC for the year ended 30 June 2022 are : Mr Prem Beejan (Chairman), Mr Sunil Benimadhu, Mr 
Raj Tapesar,  Mr Mathew Lamport, Mr Vikash Tulsidas, Mr Nitish Benimadhu and Mr Avish Goomany.
Mr Avish Goomany acts as Secretary to the IMC.

Meetings 

The Index Management Committee (IMC) meets quarterly to review the constituents of the SEM-10 and the Reserve List. These 
meetings are held on the first Tuesday (or nearest Mauritian business day after that day) of January, April, July and October.

Listing Executive Committee (LEC)

Members of the SEM’s Management who sat on the LEC for the year ended 30 June 2022 were:  Mr Sunil Benimadhu (CEO), 
Mr Vickram Ramful (Head of Listing) and Ms Shalini Gokhool (Manager Legal Affairs). Mr Rishi Jheengun (Manager Trading and 
Market Information) sat on the LEC up till February 2022, when he was replaced by Mr Avish Goomany (Assistant Manager 
Trading and Market Information). External Members who sat on the LEC for the year ended 30 June 2022 were:  Mr Jean Pierre 
Lim Kong (Chairperson), Mrs Prabha  Chinien, Mr Vaughan Heberden, Mrs. Preetee Jhamna Ramdin, Mr. Richard Robinson and 
Mr. Dhiren Ponnusamy.

Mr Vickram Ramful acts as Secretary to the LEC.

Meetings

During the financial year 2021-2022, eight (8) meetings of the LEC were held whereby the following issues, inter alia, were 
considered:  Applications for listings on the Official Market and the DEM, withdrawals from the Official Market, Corporate 
actions for both the Official Market and the DEM and cancellations of admission from the Official Market and DEM.
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Fees paid to external Members of the Listing Executive Committee (LEC)

The remuneration of the external LEC Members for the financial year 2022 and comparative for 2021 are disclosed in the table 
which follows:

Name of LEC Member 
FY 2022 FY 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000

Mr  Jean Pierre Lim Kong  (Chairman) 105 115

Mrs Prabha Chinien 65 68

Mr Vaughan Heberden 68 74

Mrs Preetee Jhamna 62 68

Mr Richard Robinson 68 77

Mr Dhiren Ponnusamy 68 71

SEM  Management Committee (MC)

The SEM MC is composed of the Chief Executive, the Head of Listing, the Manager Finance and Administration, the Manager 
Legal Affairs, the Manager, Market data, Market Development and Corporate Affairs and the Assistant Manager Trading and 
Market Information.  The Executive Secretary acts as Secretary to the MC.  

Meetings

The Members of the MC meet regularly to discuss on the day-to-day management and business operations of the SEM.  Any 
relevant issues raised at Board level which need to be channelled to SEM management, are also discussed at the MC before 
implementation by the management team.

Profile of Management Team

The profile of each Member of the Management Team is disclosed on page 16 and 17 of this Annual Report.

Principle  03 : Director Appointment Procedures

There should be a formal, rigorous and transparent process for the appointment, election, induction and re-election of directors.  
The search for Board candidates should be conducted, and appointments made, on merit, against objective criteria ( to include 
skills, knowledge, experience, and independence and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, including 
gender).  The Board should ensure that a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure be in place for planning the succession of 
all key officeholders.

The Board assumes responsibility for succession planning and for the appointment and induction of new directors to the Board.  
With the exception of the Chief Executive, all directors have a term of office of two years. 

The non-executive directors are elected every two years at the Annual Meeting, pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of 
the Company. The election of non-executive directors, if the need arises, is carried out by ballot pursuant to the provisions of the 
Constitution.
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The independent directors are nominated by the corporate governance and nomination committee. Thereafter, their appointment 
for a period of two years is approved at the Annual Meeting.

Before the Annual Meeting where the election of directors is carried out, a letter is addressed to all shareholders requesting 
them to nominate a candidate as prospective director for the election of directors at the next Annual Meeting. A resolution for 
the election of directors is forwarded to all shareholders with the notice of the Annual Meeting, together with a brief of new 
prospective director. 

Induction and Appointment of Directors

As part of the procedures for the appointment of Directors, an induction pack including an overview of SEM and the latest Annual 
Report is provided to newly appointed directors.

The Annual Report contains details of each director.

Professional Development

The Company provides the necessary resources to the Directors to develop their knowledge and capabilities. 

Succession Planning

Succession planning for senior management positions is discussed annually at the level of the Remuneration Committee.

Principle 04 : Directors Duties, Remuneration and Performance

Directors should be aware of their legal duties.  Directors should observe and foster high ethical standards and a strong ethical 
culture in their organisation.  Each director must be able to allocate sufficient time to discharge his or her duties effectively.  
Conflicts of interest should be disclosed and managed.  The Board is responsible for the governance of the organisation’s 
information strategy, information technology and information security.  The Board, committees and individual directors should 
be supplied with information in a timely manner and in an appropriate form and quality in order to perform to required 
standards.  The Board, committees and individual directors should have their performance evaluated and be held accountable 
to appropriate stakeholders.  The Board should be transparent, fair and consistent in determining the remuneration policy for 
directors and senior executives.

SEM’s Board Charter

In order to assist the directors in the discharge of their duties, the SEM has a Board Charter which sets the framework for the 
composition, responsibilities, duties, procedures, powers, authority and accountability of its Board.  
The SEM Board Charter also embodies the rules of conduct of Board Members of the SEM and the commitment of the Board 
of Directors to ensuring that the company’s governance processes and structures comply with the new principles of the Mauritius 
Code of Corporate Governance.  
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Board Procedures

The agenda of each Board meeting is finalized by the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chairman.  Board papers are 
prepared by management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive, to provide relevant facts, analysis and recommendations 
to enable informed decision-making by the Board. The agenda and papers for meetings are submitted to Directors and Board 
Committee members well in advance, to enable them to prepare for these meetings.  

During meetings, the Chairman encourages constructive and effective debates and Directors are given the chance to freely 
express their views or share information with their peers in the course of deliberation as a participative Board.  Any Director /
Board Committee member who has a direct or deemed interest in the subject matter to be deliberated, declares his/her interest 
and abstains from deliberation and voting on the same during the meeting.

The Company Secretary ensures that there is a quorum for all meetings and that such meetings are convened in accordance 
with the relevant terms of reference.   The minutes prepared by the Company Secretary memorises the proceedings of all 
meetings, including the tabling of pertinent issues and the decisions made.  In doing so, the Company Secretary internalises the 
governance principles in the Company and keeps the Board updated on the follow-up action arising from the Board’s decisions 
and/or requests at subsequent meetings.  This allows the Board to perform its fiduciary duties and fulfil its oversight role via the 
respective Board Committees towards instituting a culture of transparency and accountability in the Company.

Supply of and access to information

The Directors have individual and independent access to the advice and dedicated support services of the Company Secretary 
in ensuring the effective functioning of the Board.  The Directors may seek advice from the  management on issues under their 
respective purview.  In addition, the Board may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense on specific 
issues to enable the Board to discharge its duties in relation to the matters being deliberated.  

Conflicts of Interests

The SEM Board Charter contains provisions relating to the management of conflicts of interest and the rules of conduct for 
directors.  Clause 10 of the SEM Board Charter provides that  ‘a director should make a best effort to avoid conflicts of interest 
or situations where others might reasonably perceive there to be a conflict of interest’.

Where a conflict of interest arises or may arise, a director must disclose the conflict to the Board.  On declaring their interest and 
ensuring that it is entered in the Register of Interests of the company, the director concerned should not be present at that part of 
the meeting in which the conflict or potential conflict is discussed and should not participate in the debate, vote or indicate how 
he or she would have voted on the matter in the Board or the committee meeting.  

The Register of Interests is maintained by the Company Secretary and is available to the Shareholders of the SEM upon written 
request to the Company Secretary.  
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IT System

The SEM has outsourced its IT function to its subsidiary CDS Ltd, which possesses the necessary IT expertise.  The outsourcing 
agreement, which started since January 2001, also includes the technical management of the Automated Trading System (ATS). 
Any software enhancements, modifications and additions are thoroughly tested before implementation in the live environment. A 
formal Change Management Procedure has been implemented so as to ensure that the IT Systems are being regularly updated. 

An information Security Policy which defines the responsibilities relating to the management of the Information Technology (IT) 
systems and the procedures to be followed by the employees as well as by remote users, including investment dealers, has been 
implemented.  This IT Security Policy, which also makes reference to the Disaster Recovery Plan, is based on the ISO 27001 and 
is being subject to an IT Audit every two years. 
All significant investments on information technology and expenditures are provided for in the annual budget of the SEM, which 
is approved by the SEM Board.

Board Evaluation

In line with Principle 4 of the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016) and in accordance with Section 3.5 of 
the SEM Board Charter, a survey is carried out among the Directors of SEM in order to evaluate the overall performance of 
the Board every two years. The survey is in the form of a self-evaluation questionnaire which covers the following main areas: 
Board meetings, Board structure and composition, leadership of the Board, Board functions, Board committees, planning and 
objectives, risk assessment, human resources and succession planning, financial and operational reporting and compliance and 
ethical framework.

The previous survey was carried out in July 2020 and the next survey is scheduled for the 2nd quarter of the financial year 
2022-2023.

Dealings in shares by the directors

The Directors of SEM have followed the principle of the model code on securities transactions as detailed in Appendix 6 of the 
Mauritius Stock Exchange Listing Rules.

There were no dealings in the shares of the SEM by the directors of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2022.  

The Company has no share option plans.
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Directorships in listed companies

The number of other directorships which the directors of the SEM Board hold in listed companies and the number of shares held 
by them, both directly and indirectly in the SEM, are disclosed in the table below: 

Name  of Directors 
Number of 

Directorship in
Listed companies

Number of Shares 
held directly in SEM

Number of Shares
held indirectly in

SEM

Professor Donald Ah-Chuen 3 Nil 0.46%

Mr Sunil Dutt Benimadhu Nil Nil Nil

Mr André Chung Shui Nil Nil Nil

Mr  Nitish Benimadhu Nil Nil Nil

Mr Dipak Chummun 1 Nil Nil

Mr Manvendra Sherry  Singh Nil Nil Nil

Mr Shivraj Kevin Rangasami Nil Nil Nil

Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong Nil Nil 1.98%

Mr Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah Nil Nil Nil

Mrs Reedhee Anoushka  Bhuttoo Nil Nil Nil

 Mr Ashley Coomar (‘Kabir’) Ruhee 1 Nil Nil

Mr Louis Jean Jérôme de Chasteauneuf 4 Nil Nil

Management Agreement

There is a management agreement between SEM and the CDS for the provision of Information Technology (IT) Services to the 
Company.

Directors’ Shareholdings and Interests
 

Under Clause 11 of the SEM Board Charter:

The Secretary of the Board shall maintain a register of interests, pursuant to S 190 (2) (c) of the Companies Act 2001.  Upon 
appointment to the Board, a director shall be required to provide the Secretary to the Board with a complete list of their 
directorships and/or material interests in any security listed or traded on SEM and in any Member Company of SEM or any 
interests as defined by S147 of the Companies Act 2001 for entry in the interests register.  ‘Material interest’ is defined as any 
interest of 5% or more in the share capital of the company.

Notwithstanding the provisions of S148 of the Companies Act, 2001, a director shall forthwith inform the Secretary to the 
Board of any changes in their directorships and/or shareholdings which would affect the effect of increasing or reducing their 
shareholding above or below the level of material interest disclosure.
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Directorship in Other Companies 

The following table discloses the directorship held in other organisations by each Director during the year 2022:

Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Donald Ah-Chuen SEM Listed companies

ABC Banking Corporation Ltd Executive director

ABC Motors Company Ltd Non-Executive director

P.O.L.I.C.Y  Ltd Non-Executive director

Unlisted companies

 ABC Car Rental Ltd Non-Executive director

 ABC Coach Works Ltd Non-Executive director

 ABC Properties Ltd ( subsidiary of ABC 
Motors Company Ltd) Non-Executive director

 Meijing Investment Ltd Non-Executive director

Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah Swan Corporate Affairs Ltd       Executive director

 Swan Corporate Advisors Ltd   Non-Executive director

 Swan International Co Ltd               Non-Executive director

 Swan Foundation Non-Executive director

 Manufacturers Distributing Station Ltd Non-Executive director

 Swan Securities Ltd Non-Executive director

 Swan Global Funds Ltd Non-Executive director

Swan Smart Achiever Notes Ltd Non-Executive director

 Swan Actuarial Services Ltd Non-Executive director

 Central Depository & Settlement Co.Ltd Non-Executive director

André Chung Shui PeaQ Advisors Ltd Managing director

 Klumph Consultants Ltd Executive director

 Maritima Development Ltd Executive director

 Soleia Development Ltd Executive director

 Hatville Ltd Non-Executive director

 Hilworld Ltd Non-Executive director

 Chaussee Properties Ltd Non-Executive director

 Redville Ltd Non-Executive director

 Woodco Ltd Non-Executive director

 Hatville Investments Ltd Non-Executive director

 Happy World Ltd Non-Executive director

Albert Trading Ltd Non-Executive director

Greenland Global Fund Ltd Non-Executive director

Sefalana Mauritius (Pty) Ltd Non-Executive director
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Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Tara Emerging Asia Liquid Fund Ltd Non-Executive director

Capvent Management Ltd. Non-Executive director

Active Alpha Capital Non-Executive director

Bluestone Marchant Fund Ltd Non-Executive director

SBM Insurance Agency Ltd Non-Executive director

SBM Leasing Co Ltd Non-Executive director

Mazume Ltd Non-Executive director

Selvi Capital PLC Non-Executive director

Pegasus Diversified Global Fund Non-Executive director

Sunil Benimadhu World Federation of Exchanges (WFE) Non-Executive director

 Mauritius Finance (2020 to date) Non-Executive director

 Treasury foreign Currency Management 
Fund(TFCMF) Member of the Board

 National Committee of Corporate 
Governance (NCCG) Member of the Board

 Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Member of the Council

 Financial Services Consultative Council 
(FSCC) Member of the Council

Shivraj (‘Kevin’) Rangasami MCB Stockbrokers Ltd Managing Director

MCB Leveraged Solutions I Non-Executive director

MCB Leveraged Solutions II Non-Executive director

Reedhee (‘Anoushka’) Bhuttoo Central Depository & Settlement Co.Ltd Non-Executive director

SBM Mauritius Asset Managers Ltd Executive director

SBM Alternative Investments Ltd Executive director

SBM Fund Services Ltd Executive director

SBM Capital Markets Ltd Executive Director

SBM (Mauritius) Infrastructure Development 
Co Ltd Non-Executive director

SBM Africa Equity Fund Ltd Executive Director

SBM Structured Solutions PCC Executive Director

Dipak Chummun SEM Listed companies

ALTEO LIMITED Non-Executive director

Unlisted companies

Adam and Company Limited Non-Executive director

Air Mascareignes Limitée Non-Executive director

Alteo Energy Ltd Non-Executive director

Alteo Milling Ltd Non-Executive director

Bloomage Ltd Non-Executive director
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Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Dipak Chummun Cassis Limited Non-Executive director

Central Depository & Settlement Co. Ltd Non-Executive director

Cervonic Ltd Non-Executive director

Compagnie Thonière de L'Océan Indien 
Ltée Non-Executive director

DTOS International East Africa (K) Limited Non-Executive director

DTOS International Ltd Non-Executive director

DTOS Ltd Non-Executive director

Eagle Insurance Limited Non-Executive director

Economic Development Board Non-Executive director

Engineering Support Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Equip and Rent Company Ltd Non-Executive director

IBL Entertainment Holding Limited Non-Executive director

IBL Entertainment Limited Non-Executive director

IBL Financial Services Holding Limited Non-Executive director

IBL Fishing Company Ltd Non-Executive director

IBL Shipping Company Ltd Non-Executive director

IBL Training Services Limited Non-Executive director

IBL Treasury Ltd Non-Executive director

IBL Treasury Management Ltd Non-Executive director

IBL Ugandan Holdings 1 Limited Non-Executive director

IMV Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Interface International Ltd Non-Executive director

Ireland Fraser & Company Limited Non-Executive director

Knights & Johns Management Ltd Non-Executive director

La Tropical Mauricienne Ltée Non-Executive director

Manser Saxon Contracting Limited Non-Executive director

Manser Saxon Openings Ltd Non-Executive director

Medical Trading Company Limited Non-Executive director

Medical Trading International Limited Non-Executive director

New Cold Storage Company Limited Non-Executive director

Seafood Hub Limited Non-Executive director

Seaways Marine Supplies Limited Non-Executive director

Southern Investments Ltd Non-Executive director

Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd Non-Executive director/ Chairman

Winhold Limited Non-Executive director

Nitish Benimadhu Moka City Ltd Non-Executive director

Oficea Ltd Non-Executive director

Central Depository & Settlement Co. Ltd Non-Executive director/Vice 
Chairperson
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Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Manvendra (Sherry) Singh Unlisted companies

Air Mauritius Ltd Director

Cellplus Mobile Communications Ltd Non-Executive director

Telecom Plus Ltd Non-Executive director

Call Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Teleforce Ltd Non-Executive director

Mt Properties Ltd Non-Executive director

Mauritius Telecom Foundation Non-Executive director

MT International Ventures PCC Non-Executive director

MT Services Ltd Non-Executive director

EON Reality Ltd  Director

Telsea Investment Ltd  Director

Tommy Lo Seen Chong 4AX Proprietary Ltd Non-Executive director

Accresco Investment Management Limited Non-Executive director

Capital Markets Brokers Ltd Executive director

Intercontinental Fund Services Limited Executive director

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Ltd Executive director

Intercontinental Trust Limited Executive director

ITL Escrow Services Ltd Executive director

ITL Trustees Ltd Executive director

Perigeum Capital Ltd Executive director

Jérôme de Chasteauneuf SEM Listed companies

Alteo Limited Chairman

CIEL Limited Executive Director

Harel Mallac & Co. Ltd Independent Non-Executive Director

 Sun Limited Non-Executive Director

Unlisted companies

Alteo Agri Ltd Non-Executive director

Alteo Energy Ltd Non-Executive director

Alteo Milling Ltd Non-Executive director

Alteo Properties Ltd Non-Executive director

Alteo Refinery Ltd Non-Executive director

Anahita Estate Limited Non-Executive director

Anahita Hotel Limited Non-Executive director

Anahita Golf Ltd Non-Executive director

Anahita Residences & Villas Limited Non-Executive director

Azur Financial Services Limited Chairman

Bank One Limited Director

Biolink Limited Non-Executive director
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Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Jérôme de Chasteauneuf BNI Madagascar SA Non-Executive director

Ciel Agro Limited Non-Executive director

Ciel Corporate Services Ltd Executive Director

Ciel Finance Limited Non-Executive director

Ciel Foundation Non-Executive director

C-Care (International) Ltd Non-Executive director

Ciel Healthcare Africa Ltd Non-Executive director

Ciel Hotels & Resorts Limited Non-Executive director

Ciel Properties Limited Non-Executive director

Ciel Properties Development Limited Non-Executive director

Ciel Textile Ltd Non-Executive director

Consolidated Energy Co. Ltd Non-Executive director

Deo Juvante Investment Company Limited Non-Executive director

Deep River-Beau Champ Milling Company 
Limited Non-Executive director

Ebene Skies Ltd Chairman

EM Insurance Brokers Limited Chairman

Ferney Limited Chairman

Investment Professionals Limited Non-Executive director

Indian Ocean Financial Holdings Limited Non-Executive director

Noveprim Ltd Non-Executive director

Mitco Group Ltd Non-Executive director

Sucrière des Mascareignes Ltd Non-Executive director

Sukari Investment Company Ltd Non-Executive director

SRL Touessrok Hotel Ltd Non-Executive director

The Kibo Fund LLC Non-Executive director

The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd Non-Executive director

TPC Limited Non-Executive director

Transmara Investment Ltd Non-Executive director

Transmara Sugar Company Ltd Non-Executive director

Ashley Coomar (Kabir) Ruhee SEM Listed companies

Rogers & Co. Ltd, Executive director

Unlisted companies

Rogers Capital Captive Insurance 
Management Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital City Executives Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Corporate Services 
(Seychelles) Limited Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Corporate Services Limited Non-Executive director
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Name of Director Directorship in other Companies Type of Directorship  held

Ashley Coomar (Kabir) Ruhee Rogers Capital Finance Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Fund Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Investment Advisors Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Ltd Executive director

Rogers Capital Management Services Ltd Executive director

Rogers Capital Nominee 1 Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Nominee 2 Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Nominee Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Outsourcing Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Payment Solutions Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Specialist Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Tax Specialist Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Technology Services Ltd Non-Executive director

Rogers Capital Fin Ltd Non-Executive director

Amethis Africa Finance Ltd Non-Executive director

Amethis Retail Non-Executive director

AXA Africa Specialty Risks Non-Executive director

Swan Financial Solutions Ltd Non-Executive director
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Directors’ Remuneration 

The total remuneration paid to the directors of the SEM and the CDS for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and for the 
previous year 2021, are disclosed in the table below: 

Name of Director

SEM CDS

FY 2022 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2021

Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000

Professor Donald Ah-Chuen 126 106 - -

Mr. Nitish Benimadhu 187 143 195 242

Mr Sunil Benimadhu 16,174 13,389 - -

Mrs. Reedhee (‘Anoushka’) Bhuttoo 121 133 155 157

Mrs Aruna Radhakeesoon - - 285 265

Mr André Chung Shui 141 151 - 100

Mr Steve Leung Sock Ping - - - 48

Mr Vipin Y.S. Mahabirsingh - -     7,462 6,192

Mr Rishianandsingh Moorut - - - 40

Mr Shivraj (‘Kevin’) Rangasami 124 140 - 79

Mr Manvendra Sherry Singh 112 66 - -

Mr Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah 134 160 150 205

Mr Dipak Chummun 212 194 120 62

Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong 126 120 126 62

Mr Ashley Coomar (‘Kabir’) Ruhee 121 81

Mr Louis Jérôme de Chasteauneuf 150 91

Dr Ashwin Moheeput -  - 140 157

Mr Vinaye Jagessur - - 140 84

Mr Vimal Ori - - 173 130

No non-executive directors have received remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses 
associated with organisational performance.

Principle 05 : Risk Governance and Internal Control

The Board should be responsible for risk governance and should ensure that the organisation develops and executes a 
comprehensive and robust system of risk management.  The Board should ensure the maintenance of a sound internal control 
system.

INTERNAL CONTROL REPORT 2022

The Board of Directors affirms its overall responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control and risk management and 
for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system.  The system of internal control covers inter alia, governance, risk 
management, financial, organisational, operational and compliance control.  
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The Board of the SEM has established Committees and has entrusted them with specific responsibilities to oversee the affairs of 
the Company, with authority to act on behalf of the Board in accordance with specific Terms of Reference (TOR).  The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee has been established with the following TOR:

• To recommend the appointment of external Auditors to the Board;
• To review the audit strategy and agree on the timing and nature of reports from the external Auditors;
• To examine and review the financial statements and ensure they comply with the accounting standards and with legal 

requirements;
• To monitor and review the effective functioning of the internal control systems and reporting;
• To monitor and review the risk management framework.

KEY RISKS EXPOSURES AND RISK CONTROL MECHANISMS

This section of the report first discloses the key risks exposures for the SEM and gives a brief description of the identified risk 
exposure. It then highlights the Risk Control Mechanisms implemented by the SEM in order to mitigate those risks.

KEY RISKS EXPOSURES DESCRIPTION

1 Systemic  Risk Systemic Risk relates to the likelihood that financial difficulties experienced by an 
investment dealer may be transmitted or passed over to other investment dealers and 
through them, to the SEM.  The SEM is subject to systemic risk, which is managed by 
the various stakeholders who participate in the financial markets.

2 Technology  and  Systems Risks This includes: cyber security and incident response risks, IT resiliency and continuity 
risk, technology vendors and third-party risk, Data Management risk, IT program 
execution risk and technology operations risk.

3 Integrity Risk The integrity risks relate to money laundering and terrorist financing due to negli-
gence, insider trading, circumvention of economic and financial sanctions, fraud, 
embezzlement, forgery, bribery and the appearance of conflicting interests.  Integrity 
risks may also relate to breach of or acting in conflict with the SEM’s internal rules 
as well as breach of international rules and regulations, including FIAMLA and the 
FIAML Regulations.

4 Business Interruption Risk Should a disaster occur (e.g. system failure) unnecessary financial losses and damage 
to the reputation of the SEM may occur as a result of the absence of a complete 
disaster recovery plan.

5 Process Risk This encompasses all of the risks associated with the authorization, completeness and 
accuracy of transaction as they are entered into, flow through, and are reported.

6 Operations Risk The risk that operations are not effectively and efficiently completed due to lack of 
properly established control procedures.

7 Credit Risk Credit risk relates to the likelihood that clients will fail to meet their financial obligations 
as and when they fall due, thus exposing the SEM to a financial loss.

8 Covid-19 and its variants The risk that the Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic and its variants may impact on 
the continuity of the trading and business operations.
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The risks control mechanisms which have been implemented at the SEM include:

• Capital Adequacy Requirements

In accordance with the Stock Exchange Financial Reporting of Investment Dealers Rules 2010, all investment dealers have 
to submit, in addition to the audited accounts, Capital Adequacy Requirements returns (CAR) by the tenth business day 
of quarterly period in respect of the close of business for the previous three months, reflecting the investment dealer’s risk 
positions and its financial resources.

As per the Stock Exchange Financial Reporting of Investment Dealers Rules 2010, no investment dealer is allowed a shortfall 
in its capital, other than pursuant to a specific temporary exception granted by the SEM.

The SEM has full discretion as to the necessity and sufficiency of special adjustments in any particular case, taking into 
consideration all factors pertaining to the market with regard to the financial resources or future contracts and the affairs as 
a whole of the investment dealer involved.

• Compensation Fund

Section 148 of the Securities Act 2005 provides for the creation and maintenance of a Compensation fund “to provide for 
the compensation of investors who suffer pecuniary loss as a result of:

 - the inability of a licensee under this Act or any collective investment scheme to satisfy claims arising from civil liability by 
it in connection with services provided;

 - fraud or defalcation by a licensee, a collective investment scheme or any of its officers or employees; or
 - the  insolvency or bankruptcy of any licensee or collective investment scheme.

The SEM Compensation Fund which was established, maintained and administered by the SEM under the repealed Stock 
Exchange Act 1988 is still being maintained by the SEM.  In 1999, the Board of Directors of the SEM approved that an 
initial amount of Rs2.75 million.- be transferred out of the SEM’s retained earnings for the purpose of the fund.  The value of 
the Fund as at 30 June 2022 amounted to Rs 5.3 million.  In case of any shortfall arising in the fund, the investment dealers, 
as per the requirements of the SEM Business Rules, would be called upon to contribute to the shortfall in the Compensation 
Fund. 

 In addition to that, depending upon the size of its business and its relative risk exposure, each investment  dealer is required 
to take a  Professional Indemnity insurance cover as per the requirements of the SEM Business Rules.

• Stock Exchange Professional Indemnity/ Crime Insurance/ Directors & Officers Liability Insurance 

Cover
 

Since SEM and CDS have common interests and common Directors who sit on both Boards, the management of  SEM and 
CDS  decided to take a comprehensive joint- insurance policy which includes  the Stock Exchange Professional Indemnity, 
Crime Insurance and Directors & Officers Liability insurance, for a total amount of Rs25 million.  This decision has enabled 
both companies to achieve synergies and reduce their insurance costs.
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• Controls Testing

Controls testing are being done on a regular basis to ensure compliance with the Rules of the Stock Exchange.Each head of 
department has to ensure that the established Rules and Regulations are being complied with by all the market participants 
and other relevant stakeholders. 

Furthermore, each head of department has also established a ‘Manual of Procedures’, that describes in detail, the activities 
that are performed by each department.  Each Head of department has the ultimate  responsibility to ensure that the control 
procedures as described in the ‘Manual of Procedures’ are being strictly followed by the staff working under his/her 
department.  The ‘Manual of Procedures’ are being regularly updated by each Head of Department.

• Internal Audit 

Due to the small size of its business and small number of employees, the SEM does not have an Internal Audit (IA) function.  
However, in order to keep under review the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control, 
an audit of the internal controls of the SEM is undertaken by an audit firm, other than the external auditor as and when 
requested by the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The SEM regularly receives the visit of the inspectors of the 
Financial Services Commission (FSC) where on-site inspections and audit of the SEM’s internal controls and procedures are 
being made.  By and large, the SEM has demonstrated compliance and has met the expectations of the FSC in the context 
of the on-site inspection and audit.

• External Audit

An external audit of the SEM financial statements is performed at the end of each financial year by External Auditors, who 
are duly registered under the Mauritius Institute of Professional Accountants (MIPA) and licensed by the Financial Reporting 
Council.  The audited financial statements together with the annual report of the SEM are first discussed at the level of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee.  After review, the Audit and Risk Management Committee recommends the 
financial statements to the SEM Board for approval.  

Our external auditors are Deloitte. External auditors are appointed/reappointed by shareholders following recommendations 
by the Audit and Risks Management Committee and the Board of Directors. External auditors have unrestricted access to 
the Audit and Risks Management Committee. The SEM is satisfied with the external audit process. The Audit and Risks 
Management Committee ensures that whenever non-audit services are provided, the fees remain reasonable compared to 
audit fees such that auditors’ objectivity and independence are not impaired.

During the financial year under review, the following fees (excl. VAT) apply:

SERVICE SERVICE PROVIDER AMOUNT PAID

Statutory audit Deloitte Rs 380,000

For other audit related services - Nil
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• Internal Anti Money Laundering (AML) and Combating the Financing of Terrorism (CFT) Policies 
And Procedures of the SEM               

Section 22(1)(d) of the FIAML Regulations provides that :

22.(1) Every reporting person shall implement programmes against money laundering and terrorism financing having 
regard to the money laundering and terrorism financing risks identified and the size of its business, which at a minimum shall 
include the following internal policies, procedures and controls.

(d)  an independent audit function to review and verify compliance with and effectiveness of the measures taken in 
accordance with the Act and these regulations.

To ensure compliance with these Regulations, the SEM has already implemented internal Anti Money Laundering (AML) and 
Combating the Financing of Terrorism (CFT) Policies and Procedures (the ‘Internal Policies’).  The SEM has also appointed 
a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)/Compliance Officer and a Deputy MLRO.   During the year, the MLRO/
Compliance Officer and Deputy MLRO followed a comprehensive and Practical Training on AMl/CFT Regulations and 
Sanctions. 

• Independent Audit 

In view of the above, amendments have been made to the Internal Policies of the SEM to cater for an independent audit to 
verity compliance with the above measures once every two years.  The SEM has made a provision in its budget to cater for 
an AML/CFT audit in the forthcoming financial year.

• IT Risks Audit 

In order to  assist the SEM and the CDS in identifying any IT risks and to undertake appropriate measures to address those 
IT risks,  the whole IT system is being subject to a specialized external IT Security Audit once every two years.  The last IT 
security audit was conducted in April-June 2021 by PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd (PwC).

The Scope of the IT Security Audit comprised of the following:

• Review of Security Policy
• Review of the network architecture
• Security audit of the network components like routers, firewall, switches, etc.
• Security audit of the Solaris and Windows servers and Oracle databases
• Internal vulnerability assessment
• Verifying the VPN and Wireless connections 
• Non-intrusive external penetration testing
• Verification of mySEM web application and mobile app
• Review of Disaster Recovery Planning
• Reviewing existing Work From Home environment 
• Verifications of PCs on our LAN 
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The overall observation of PwC following the IT security audit is provided below:

“We found that the IT infrastructure of SEM / CDS have been well designed to protect against both internal and external 
threats. We performed internal vulnerability assessment and external penetration testing (attacks such as dictionary attack, 
password cracking, denial of service among others on the web facing application,) but were not able to penetrate inside 
SEM / CDS network. However, such tests were conducted over a predefined time frame only whereas professional hackers 
may have no such limitations. Furthermore, we noted that our recommendations made during our past assessments have 
been implemented to further enhance the security posture of the SEM / CDS IT environment. As part of our review, we also 
performed configuration review of operating systems, databases, network devices and Microsoft 365, and noted that they 
have been appropriately configured in line with leading practices. We also reviewed SEM / CDS existing Work From 
Home (WFH) environment and did not find any issues of concern. We provided our recommendations to further enhance 
the WFH environment. In addition, we noted that SEM / CDS disaster recovery procedures are regularly tested to ensure 
a timely resumption of services following a major incident or disaster.”

The auditors also made new recommendations to further enhance the current IT environment.  All the recommendations 
included in the IT Audit Report have already been implemented except the Web Application Firewall (WAF) which is still in 
testing phase.

• Disaster Recovery Plan 

An important measurement of security and reliability is the ability to recover quickly from interruption and to get back to full 
functionality.  A common Disaster Recovery  Plan (DRP) is in place to overcome various types of disasters which may affect 
the operations of SEM and CDS.  The DRP covers the SEM Automated Trading System (ATS) as well as the CDS system 
since both are tightly coupled and run on the same 
An important measurement of security and reliability is the ability to recover quickly from interruption and to get back to full 
functionality.  A common Disaster Recovery  Plan (DRP) is in place to overcome various types of disasters which may affect 
the operations of SEM and CDS.  The DRP covers the SEM Automated Trading System (ATS) as well as the CDS system 
since both are tightly coupled and run on the same network. It should also be noted that there are written agreements on 
the Disaster Recovery Services between SIL and SEM/CDS.

The DRP is simulated at least three times during a year.  The main objectives of the DRP are as follows:

Preventive

• Prevention of data loss arising from failure of the main and backup ATS and CDS servers;
• Availability of power from a backup generator to cater for Mains failure;
• Availability of PCs for participants’ use at the premises of SEM and CDS in the event of a disaster at their respective sites.

Corrective 

Switching-over to the back-up servers within ten minutes in case of technical failures affecting the availability of the main 
ATS and CDS servers;

Immediate restoration of power supply to the main and backup servers in case the supplying UPS fails;
In the event that both the main and back-up servers or the premises of SEM and CDS become unavailable, systems 
operations will be restored within 2 hours at the State Informatics Ltd (SIL) site.  It is the policy of SEM/CDS to carry out 
simulation of such a disaster three times during the year.
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Observations

The simulation exercises were carried out on 15 October 2021, 26 January 2022 and 19 May 2022 for the year under 
review.  During the simulation exercise carried out on 15 October 2021, a mock trading session together with related 
clearing and settlement functions were performed in the presence of investment dealers, custodian banks and employees 
of SEM and CDS.  During the simulation exercises, the ATS and CDS systems recovered at the backup site within 2 hours.  
The results of the three simulations were all successful.

• Covid-19 and its variants

To address the potential impact of coronavirus (Covid-19) and its variants, a protocol has been established by SEM to 
ensure business continuity across our services in the context of the Covid-19.  Furthermore, to minimize the risk of the 
coronavirus on the workplace, various measures have been implemented to protect our workforce, such as fever testing, 
providing facemasks and hand sanitizers to all staff, installation of air purifiers in all common spaces and practicing social 
distancing during meetings. The SEM has encouraged its employees to get vaccinated and to-date all employees of the 
SEM have been fully vaccinated. 

Members’ Compliance Visit

(Rule 5.2.1 of SEM Business Rules)

Section 24(1)(a) of the Securities Act 2005 provides that in addition to its other functions, the SEM shall have regulatory functions 
and shall, inter alia, ensure that it adequately supervises the market operations and conduct of market participants. 

The SEM’s Business Rules have been implemented to enable the SEM to discharge its regulatory functions vis à vis market 
participants. These rules provide for the criteria and conditions for Investment Dealers to be admitted as Trading Members of the 
SEM, disciplinary action against Trading Members in the event of non-compliance with the rules, requirements on the business 
practices of Trading Members and a Code of Conduct which the Trading Members must observe when trading on SEM. 

The SEM’s Business Rules were approved by the FSC in October 2008 and came into force in January 2009, following a 
3-month transition period given to the Investment Dealers to ensure compliance with the new rules. The SEM has set up a 
compliance unit  under which a senior staff of the Trading Department  shall monitor on an on-going basis compliance of Trading 
Members with the requirements of the SEM’s Business Rules. 
With the adoption of the SEM’s Business Rules, the SEM monitors the following:

• Eligibility criteria for membership;
• Continued compliance with Exchange requirements, including training and certification of participants and capital 

adequacy;
• Trading operations of participants, including issue of contract notes to clients, brokerage charges, turnover limits, margin 

requirements;
• Code of conduct for members and members’ responsibilities;
• Maintenance of records, annual accounts and audit;
• Inspection of participants;
• Sanctions in cases of non-compliance with regulations, rules and procedures of the Exchange.
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A thorough investigation and compliance visit is undertaken with the Investment Dealers, in virtue of Rule 5.2.1 of SEM Business 
Rules to assess how the standards described in the Business Rules had been complied with. 

Surprise visits are carried out to the offices of Trading Members during trading hours so as to verify whether transactions carried 
out  on the stock exchange through the ATS are in conformity with the Trading Rules & Procedures and the Rules made under the 
Securities Act 2005. A questionnaire type form derived from the Business Rules  is used during the audit exercise, which covered 
specific and general aspects of the trading operations of the Trading Member, such as the Admission of Applicants as Trading 
Members;  Continuing Obligations of Trading Members; Business Practices of Trading Members and Code of Conduct of the 
SEM Business Rules.

The main components of the audit exercise  comprised a « walk through » of a complete trade cycle process, i.e. opening of 
Clients’ Accounts in CDS, deposit of securities, receipt buy or sell orders from a client, input of order details in ATS, collection 
and despatch of Contract Notes, executions of trades and post trade functions.

Principle 06 : Reporting with Integrity

The Board should present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the organisation’s financial, environmental, social 
and governance position, performance and outlook in its annual report and on its website.

The Board of Directors affirms its responsibility for the preparation of financial statements  which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss and cash flow for the 
financial year.  The Annual Report of the SEM and the audited financial statements are available on the SEM website.
The Directors have the responsibility to ensure that in preparing the financial statements of the Company and the Group, they 
have used appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates, and that all applicable accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors have the responsibility to ensure that the Company keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of the Company and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2001.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
Company and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Other responsibilities of the Directors include overseeing the implementation and upholding of good Corporate Governance 
practices and ensuring that effective systems of internal controls and risk management have been maintained.

Group Structure of the SEM

The SEM holds 51 per cent of the ordinary share capital of the Central Depository and Settlement Co.  Ltd (CDS).  The main 
activities of the CDS are to provide depository, clearing and settlement services in order to facilitate dealings in securities.   The 
total value of the ordinary share capital issued by the CDS is Rs15 million and its total reserves as at 30 June 2022  amounted 
to Rs 271.4 million.
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Dividend Policy of the SEM

The dividend policy adopted by the Company is disclosed in the Directors’ Report on page 13 and 14 of the Annual Report.

Common directors and the shareholding percentages

The table below lists the names of common Directors who sat in both the Boards of the SEM and CDS during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2022 together with the shareholding percentages in SEM and CDS respectively:

Name of Director Name of Shareholder % shareholding in SEM Ltd % shareholding in CDS 

Mr Nitish Benimadhu Swan Life  Ltd 15 -

Mr Jaiyansing Soobah Swan General Ltd 7.5 3.33

Mr Dipak Chummun IBL Ltd 8.88 -

Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong Azelbourne Financial Services Ltd 4.95 -

Mrs Reedhee Bhuttoo SBM Capital Markets Ltd 4.83 3.33

Related Party Transactions (RPT)

A list of the significant related-party disclosures between the Company and its subsidiaries, and between the Group and other 
related parties including relevant key management personnel for FY 2022, is set out in Note of  the Financial Statements.

Social, Ethical, Safety, Health and Environmental Issues

All the employees of the SEM are bound by the internal rules and regulations, as detailed in the SEM Employee Handbook.  The 
SEM Employee Handbook is being regularly updated to take into account changes in the legislation.  In the discharge of their 
duties, the SEM staff are committed to the highest standards of integrity and ethical conduct.

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE SEM

SEM

CDS

51% 
Shareholding
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The Company has implemented the following measures to contribute to the protection of the environment by minimizing the use 
of paper:

• Sending statements of accounts and other documents by electronic mail instead of by post.
• Sending Board and Committee papers by electronic mail instead of by post.
• Sensitising employees to use consumables efficiently and print mails and documents only when necessary.

Staff  Welfare

The SEM has also established a staff welfare programme where the sporting activities of the employees of the SEM are 
sponsored, in line with the approved budget . The SEM has also provided for medical insurance and 24-hour accident covers 
for all its employees.

Staff Training and Long-Term Professional Courses

 Each year, a provision is made in the budget  to cater for local and overseas courses that SEM employees can follow.
For employees that wish to undertake long-term  Professional Courses, the SEM may under specific conditions,  provide 
sponsorship that covers up to 50% of the direct costs. 

WHISTLE-BLOWING RULES AND PROCEDURES

The Code of Corporate Behaviour for Directors and Employees of the SEM provides an established framework for reporting on 
potential breaches to the provisions of the aforementioned Code. No reports were made in this context during the year under 
review.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY  POLICY

In line with section 9 of the Equal Opportunity Act 2008 and the Guidelines issued by the Equal Opportunities Commission 
pursuant to Section 27(3)(f) of the Act, the SEM has adopted an Equal Opportunity Policy with a view to minimizing the risks of 
discrimination and to promoting recruitment, training, selection and employment on the basis of merit.  There was no complaint 
on these matters for the year under review.

The SEM CSR policy is to contribute towards CSR programmes or activities that will help to “Eradicate Absolute Poverty”.  The 
amendment brought to Section 50L of the Income Tax Act and the Finance Act 2016 whereby at least 75% of the CSR Fund 
shall be remitted to the Director-General of the MRA, is applicable to the CSR Fund of SEM.
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The CSR Fund of the SEM for the FY 2022 amounted to Rs1,123,256 and 25% of this Fund was used to finance SEM’s CSR 
programmes through three NGO as listed below:

Name of NGO Amount sponsored

(Rs’000)

1 Rotary Club of Port Louis- Rotary ZEP breakfast 130

2 Action for Integral Human Development 92

3 Friends in Hope 59

Total amount sponsored 281

Political donations

No political donation was made by the SEM during the financial year 2022.

Principle 07 :  Audit

Organisations should consider having an effective and independent internal audit function that has the respect, confidence 
and co-operation of both the Board and the management.  The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements to 
appoint and maintain an appropriate relationship with the organisation’s internal and external auditors.

Matters relating to internal and external audit are dealt with under the item ‘Internal Control Report’  on page 41 to 42 that forms 
part of the CG Report.

Principle 08 :  Relations with Shareholders and Other Key Stakeholders

The Board should be responsible for ensuring that an appropriate dialogue takes place among the organisation, its shareholders 
and other key stakeholders.  The Board should respect the interests of its shareholders and other key stakeholders within the 
context of its fundamental purpose.

Shareholders’ Agreement

There is no shareholders’ agreement which affects the governance of the Company by the board and the SEM does not have 
any management agreement with third parties.

SEM Key Stakeholders

The key stakeholders of the Company are as follows: Ministry of Financial Services and Good Governance; Financial Services 
Commission; Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd; Investment Dealers and Listed Companies. Regular meetings are held 
with stakeholders to discuss matters of common interest. Investment Dealers and Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd are 
consulted prior to amendments to Rules and Procedures. Such consultations take place through discussions at the level of the 
Consultative and Informative Committee. Regular meetings are also held with the Financial Services Commission to discuss 
market development initiatives. 
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General Meetings 

Annual meetings are held within six months from the end of the financial year and the notice of the Annual Meeting and 
related documents are sent to the shareholders of the SEM at least 21 days before the meeting.  The notice clearly explains the 
procedures on proxy voting and includes the deadline for receiving proxies.

Restrictions on the ownership of SEM shares 

SEM being a public company, the transfer of its shares are not subject to pre-emption rights. However, restrictions on ownership 
of shares as required by law are reflected in the following clauses 10.1 and 10.4 of the SEM Constitution:
Clause  10.1:   Transfer of Shares to be subject to Board and FSC approval:-
“Notwithstanding the rights conferred upon the Board by clause 10.4. hereof, all transfers and transmissions of Shares shall have 
to be approved by the Board. Any document relating to or affecting the title to any Shares shall be registered with the Company, 
after having been approved by the Board, without payment of any fee.  No Shares shall be transferred except with the approval 
of the FSC pursuant to Section 23 of the Financial Services Act 2007”.

Clause  10.4 :  Board’s right to refuse or delay registration of transfer:-

(a) “The Board may, subject to compliance with sections 87 to 89 of the Act (Companies Act 2001), refuse or delay the 
registration of any transfer of any Share to any person, whether that person be an existing Shareholder or not, where:

(i) so required by law;
(ii) a holder of any such Share has failed to pay on the due date any amount payable thereon either in terms of the issue 

thereof or in accordance with the Constitution (including any Call made thereon);
(iii) the transfer is not accompanied by such proof as the Board reasonably requires of the right of the transferor to make 

the transfer;
(iv) the Company is required or authorised to do so under the provisions of the Securities (Central Depositary, Clearing and 

Settlement) Act or any other enactment.

(b)  Notice of the decision of the Board refusing or delaying a transfer of any Share, stating the reasons for the refusal, shall 
be sent to the transferor and tzhe transferee within twenty-eight (28)  days of the date on which such transfer was delivered 
to the Board”.
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SEM Shareholders and the percentage shareholdings

The table below discloses the list of shareholders of the SEM and the relative number of Ordinary shares held by them as at 30 
June 2022:

List of shareholders  of the Stock Exchange of Maurtius Ltd  Total no. of shares held as at 
30 June 2021 % Holding

1 Swan Life Ltd 750,000 15.00%

2 IBL Ltd 443,833 8.88%

3 Mauritius Telecom Ltd 375,000 7.50%

4 State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd 375,000 7.50%

5 Swan General Ltd 375,000 7.50%

6 Mirabel Investments  Ltd 344,697 6.89%

7 Newton Securities Ltd 287,879 5.76%

8 MCB Stockbrokers  Ltd 271,757 5.44%

9 Azelbourne Financial Services Ltd 247,712 4.95%

10 Plasmo Ltd 246,182 4.92%

11 Ramet Investment Ltd 242,424 4.85%

12 SBM Capital Markets Ltd 241,561 4.83%

13 Island Life Assurance Co Ltd 191,000 3.82%

14 ABC Motors Co Ltd 187,500 3.75%

15 Chue Wing & Co Ltd 187,500 3.75%

16 Alteo Agri Ltd 37,879 0.76%

17 Excelsior United Development Companies Limited 37,879 0.76%

18 The Bee Equity Partners Ltd 37,879 0.76%

19 Medine Limited 37,879 0.76%

20 ILA Managed Pension Fund 34,000 0.68%

21 Galvanising Co Ltd 30,303 0.61%

22 MUA Stockbroking  Ltd 15,136 0.30%

23 The Mauritius Development Investment Trust Co Ltd 2,000 0.04%

 Total 5,000,000 100%
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Important Dates

Dividend declaration 23 June 2022
In compliance with Section 20 of the Securities Act 2005, online submission of the SEM 
Audited Accounts & Annual Reports to the Financial Services Commission (FSC)

26 September 2022

Dividend Payment 30 September 2022

Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of the SEM November 2022

Statement of Compliance

Name of Public Interest Entity: The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd
Reporting Period: 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022

We, the Directors of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Company has complied 
with all of its obligations and requirements under the National Code of Corporate Governance (2016).

      
Jaiyansing Shailen Soobah      Dipak Chummun
Chairperson        Chairman

Corporate Governance Committee

Date: 22nd September 2022
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New Listings

In 2021-2022, COVID-19 continued to affect the operations of listed companies. Capital raising exercises were marked by 
extensions to give investors time to subscribe and complete administrative and due diligence procedures, and with regards to 
reporting, many companies had to request for extensions for the publication of their financial statements. 

Nevertheless, on the listings side, listings definitely picked up the pace after the previous, very challenging, financial year. The 
SEM closed the year 2021-2022 with 20 new securities on its platform (versus 7 in the preceding year), despite an environment 
marked by enduring uncertainty and economic turmoil, with new COVID variants reaching our shores, a second sanitary 
lockdown and Mauritian borders only re-opening in October 2021.

The evolution of the number of listings over the years and the spread between new listings, both domestic and foreign, is shown 
below:

Specialist debt instruments made up the majority of new listings on the Official Market, with 16 new specialist debt instruments 
being admitted to listing. The Specialist Debt Securities segment saw listings by Bluelife Ltd, Forty Two Point Two, Northfields 
International High School Ltd, Meridian CRV Limited, Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd, Brait PLC, Innodis Ltd, Brait Investments Holdings 
Ltd and EVACO Ltd. 

In terms of equity listings, 2 new listings were approved on the Official Market in the Global Business Corporation segment, 
namely that of Crytel Mauritius Ltd and SREE Agro Ltd. Crytel Mauritius Ltd holds two subsidiaries, whose activities are in metal 
trading and SREE Agro Ltd is the holding company of SREE PLC, an investment group that specializes in agro-business and 
commodity projects and which has been in operation for over 8 years in Zambia.

New Domestic Securities Listed New Foreign Securities Listed

2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022
NEW SECURITIES LISTED NEW SECURITIES LISTED NEW SECURITIES LISTED NEW SECURITIES LISTED NEW SECURITIES LISTED NEW SECURITIES LISTED

31 25 28 17 7 20
DOMESTIC ›››19 DOMESTIC ›››12 DOMESTIC ›››20 DOMESTIC ›››13 DOMESTIC ››› 6 DOMESTIC ›››11
FOREIGN  ›››12 FOREIGN  ›››13 FOREIGN  ››› 8 FOREIGN  ››› 4 FOREIGN  ››› 1 FOREIGN  ››› 9
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As for the DEM, it saw the listings of 2 new companies, namely Velogic Ltd and Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd. By being the first 
company involved in the cross-border logistics business to list on SEM, Velogic Ltd has enhanced the product offering available 
on the SEM and offered our investors an investment opportunity in a new sector of activity. The listing of Oceanarium (Mauritius) 
Ltd has also brought a novel dimension to SEM’s product offerings, giving investors a diversification opportunity into a new type 
of business, the first of its kind in Mauritius and also the largest Oceanarium of the Mascarene region.

The spread of new listings, by type of issuer, over the years is illustrated below:
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OVERVIEW OF LISTED ISSUERS

The charts below provide an overview of issuers listed on the OM and DEM (by sector of activity), as at the end of June 2022.
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Official Market

Investments : 14

Commerce : 4

Industry : 7

Leisure & Hotels : 5

Property Development : 2

53 : Specialised Debt Securities

16 : Global Business Corporations

11 : Structures Products

1 : Depositary Receipts

4 : Exchange Traded Funds

Sugar : 1

Transport : 1

Banks & Insurance 
and Other Finance :  5

Debt : 7

Foreign : 3

Global & Specialised Funds : 11

Development & Enterprise Market :

5 : Property Development

Industry : 10

Investments : 5

4 : Leisure & Hotels 

6: Others 

2 : Sugar 

2 : Transport 

Commerce : 3

Banks & Insurance 
and Other Finance : 2 

Debentures : 1

Withdrawals 

2021-2022 saw the withdrawal of 1 Global Fund, Praxis Mutual PCC, in the context of its Restructuring, which involved a 
redemption in kind of all its listed shares. 3 Global Business Corporations, namely, Lighthouse Capital Ltd, Dacosbro and 
Mainland Real Estate Ltd were also withdrawn from the Official Market of the SEM. Lighthouse Capital Ltd’s withdrawal was 
in the context of the company’s intention to rationalize its costs and move its domicile to Malta in view of shifting its property 
acquisition focus to Europe. Dacosbro’s withdrawal was the consequence of severe cost cutting due to the challenges of the 
COVID19 pandemic which had significantly impacted the company’s operations. As for Mainland Real Estate Ltd, its withdrawal 
ensued following the unanimous decision of its only 4 shareholders to proceed with the cancellation of the listing of the ordinary 
shares of the company from the Official Market.

Air Mauritius Ltd was also withdrawn from the Official Market of the SEM after a takeover of the company by Airport Holding 
Ltd, following which the Board of Airport Holding Ltd resolved that it would not dispose of any of its stake in Air Mauritius Ltd in 
view of restoring the percentage in public hands to 25% as required under the SEM’s Listing Rules.

During the year under review, Ascencia Ltd was withdrawn from the DEM in the context of its migration to the Official Market.
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Corporate Transactions on the OM and the DEM

The chart below provides a break-down of corporate transactions on the Official Market and the DEM during the year under 
review.

Private placements were the most common corporate transaction in 2021-2022, following the trend in precedent years as 
several issuers continued to leverage on the SEM’s multicurrency platform in order to fund their investment objectives.
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OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

(1)  The setting up of the SEM Venture Market 

All relevant regulatory approvals for the Venture Market having been obtained in 2021, the Listing Division is now actively dis-
cussing with potential applicants, with the objective of attracting the first listings on the Venture Market.

(2)  Promoting sustainability

Following the publication of a Guide for the issue and listing of Sustainable Bonds in Mauritius by the technical Committee 
chaired by the SEM under the aegis of the Bank of Mauritius, the SEM is now actively engaging in talks with potential issuers of 
Sustainable Bonds. Moreover, the Listing Division has actively participated in the elaboration of the Committee of SADC Stock 
Exchanges (COSSE) working group’s Guidance for the issue of Green Bonds.  

As regards the SEM Sustainability Index (SEMSI), Ascencia Ltd was admitted in SEMSI in August 2021 and ENL Ltd was admit-
ted in SEMSI in January 2022. More companies have expressed their interest in SEMSI and will be going through the SEMSI 
assessment in the next financial year.  

(3)  Amendments to the Listing Rules and DEM Rules 

During the year under review, the Listing Rules and DEM Rules were revised in several instances to provide more clarity and also 
in order to align the SEM’s Rules with the revised Securities (Disclosure Obligations of Reporting Issuers) Rules 2007, as well as 
with the Prospectus requirements of the Financial Services Commission (FSC) in the case of public issues where the same docu-
ment submitted to the FSC as Prospectus is also submitted to the SEM as Listing Particulars.

As part of an initiative to promote the sustainability agenda, both at the level of the SEM and at the level of listed companies, the 
SEM has also revised the requirements for listed issuers to file hard copies of financial statements with the SEM, and to limit such 
filings to soft copies only. The foremost benefit of this amendment is to lessen the impact to the environment. For listed issuers, it is 
hoped that this amendment will effectively lead to a decrease in the use of paper, and in this way, reduce costs linked to paper, 
printing and postage, as well as carbon footprint, while at the same time increasing operating efficiencies.

The lockdown enforced in March 2021 has added more nervousness and concern to an environment already fraught with 
deep-seated uncertainty. While volatility persists and the economic background remains challenging, the number of listings has 
certainly improved after the precedent, very difficult financial year. With new listings of Global Business Corporations after 
Mauritius’s exit from the FATF grey list and the EU Blacklist, the following year definitely looks more optimistic than last year. In 
2022-2023 the new Rules for the listing of Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (SPACs) will also be finalised. 
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The local stock market grappled with intense volatility during the period under review but nevertheless finished the year on a 
good note. The local market kicked off the year on the right foot climbing back from the depths of the pandemic and moved 
up steadily till the mid-November 2021. During the period 1 July 2021 to 16 November 2021, the SEMDEX and the SEMTRI 
soared by 15.3% and 15.8% respectively.

This optimistic trend came to a momentary halt with the discovery of the Omicron variant in mid-November 2021.The SEMDEX 
and the SEMTRI plunged by 6.58% and 5.55% respectively from 16 November 2021 to 2 December 2021. The local market 
renewed with its upward trend at start of December 2021 and was quick to recover the Omicron induced losses. However, this 
positive phase was disrupted with the start of the Russo-Ukrainian war on 24 February 2022.

A few weeks after facing a downturn due to the war, the local stock market embarked on a strong rally as from 17 March 
2022 and saw the total return indices SEMTRI and SEMTRI-ASI setting new records. The SEMTRI reached a new milestone by 
crossing the 9000 points mark for the first time on 25 April 2022. Both the SEMTRI and the SEMTRI-ASI finished at their record 
level of 9182.32 points and 8464.24 points respectively on 4 May 2022. However, this short lived rally was quickly reversed 
as investors became unnerved about the stubbornly high inflation rates and the prospects of monetary tightening by the Central 
Bank.

Total value traded during the financial year 21/22 stood at Rs 14.8bn. Around Rs 18.6 billion were raised during the year 
by listed issuers. The price earnings ratio and the dividend yield stood at 12.74 and 3.35% respectively at end of June 2022.



61TRADING ACTIVITIES (CONT’D)

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Performance of Market Indices

Despite navigating through several challenging phases, the local market finished the year on a promising note. The SEM 
All Share Index (SEM-ASI) and the SEMTRI-ASI registered a gain of by 8.4% and 12.1% respectively during the year under 
review. The SEMDEX jumped 14.2% and ended the year at 2127.14 points. The total return index, SEMTRI advanced by 
17.8% closing the last session of the year at 8568.62 points. The SEM-10 and the SEMSI soared by 11.7% and 12.7% 
respectively during the same period.

INDICES OPENING
1-Jul-21

CLOSING
30-Jun-22 Return (%)

SEM-ASI 1,800.96 1,952.36 8.4

SEMTRI-ASI - RS 7,167.42 8,033.64 12.1

SEMDEX 1,863.22 2,127.14 14.2

SEMTRI - RS 7,274.51 8,568.62 17.8

SEMTRI - USD 2,683.07 2,999.70 11.8

SEM 10 346.69 387.18 11.7

SEMSI 100.83 113.68 12.7

SEM-AFRIDEX 103.68 103.94 0.3

SEMBI 103.18 103.05 (0.1)

Turnover and Volume Traded

Total transactions amounted to Rs 14.8bn during the year compared to Rs 13bn last year. Average daily turnover for the 252 
trading sessions held stood at Rs 58.6m. Total volume shot up by 68.7% during the year and amounted to 451 million at end 
of June 2022.  A breakdown of value traded amid the different sectors is depicted in the chart below.
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Investor profile by category

Local institutions were net buyers to the tune of Rs 2.2 billion during the year under review compared to a net inflow of Rs 1.8 
billion last year. Purchases and sales effected by local individuals amounted to Rs 4.8bn and Rs 5.3bn respectively. Foreign 
purchases amounted to Rs 1.5 billion whereas sales stood at Rs 3.2 billion resulting in a net outflow of Rs 1.7 billion.
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As shown in the chart below, transactions by local institutions represented 50.1% and were by far the most active in the financial 
year 2021-2022.  The participation rate of foreigners during the year was very low with only 15.6% share in the total value 
traded compared to 41.2% last year. The table below shows the breakdown of total value traded by different category of 
investors
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Investments by Foreign Investors

Foreign investors were net sellers to an amount of Rs 1.7 billion in the year 2021-2022 compared to an outflow of Rs 1.4 billion 
last corresponding year. The table below shows the monthly foreign data for the period July 2021 to June 2022.

MONTH PURCHASES(Rs M) SALES(Rs M) NET PURCHASES (Rs M)

Jul-2021 178.2 261.3 -83.1

Aug-2021 95.5 313.7 -218.2

Sep-2021 77.4 253.5 -176.1

Oct-2021 64.9 253.4 -188.5

Nov-2021 152.6 509.0 -356.4

Dec-2021 59.3 381.2 -321.9

Jan-2022 74.9 181.9 -107.0

Feb-2022 241.9 216.2 25.7

Mar-2022 175.4 196.8 -21.4

Apr-2022 113.0 78.2 34.8

May-2022 107.2 172.7 -65.5

Jun-2022 112.9 344.8 -231.9

TOTAL 1,453.2 3,162.7 -1,709.5

Market Capitalization

The market capitalization of the SEM-ASI gained 5.1% during the year, closing the month of June 2022 at Rs 341.5bn. The total 
value of shares of SEMDEX constituents registered a growth of 20.2% during the year and stood at Rs 271.7bn at end of June 
2022.  During the year 2021-2022, Ascencia Ltd migrated from the Development & Enterprise Market to the Official Market 
thereby increasing the market value of the Property & Development sector from Rs 0.8 billion to Rs 15.3 billion. 

18.9% : Investments Commerce : 13.1%

Industry : 6.1%

 5.6 : Leisure & Hotels

 4.5 : Property & Development

1.5% : Funds / GBL Companies

Depositary Receipts : 2.7% 

 0.4% : Sugar Banks & Insurance 
and Other Finance :  30.9%

 16.3% : Foreign

Market Capitalisation by Sector - June 2022
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Top ten companies in terms of Total Return

The following table shows the top ten local companies in terms of total return for the financial year under review which ranges 
from 26.5% to 53.7%.

Companies Listing Date 01-Jul-21 30-Jun-22 Change (%)

Lux Island Resorts Ltd 23-Nov-05 99.1 152.3 53.7

Swan General  Ltd 19-Dec-90 5,301.7 7,966.9 50.3

New Mauritius Hotels Ltd 12-Jun-96 185.5 269.1 45.1

Sun Limited 26-Jan-93 298.3 415.3 39.2

ENL Limited (Ordinary A Shares) 23-Jan-19 49.8 68.5 37.6

Rogers & Company Limited 27-Jun-90 8,990.1 12,098.2 34.6

CIM Financial Services Ltd 30-Oct-12 249.3 332.2 33.3

CIEL Limited 04-Feb-14 78.6 103.9 32.2

Promotion and Development Ltd 17-Jan-96 649.0 837.5 29.0

Alteo Limited 31-Jul-12 102.0 129.0 26.5

Development & Enterprise Market (Dem)
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The Development & Enterprise Market (DEM) was marked by new heights achieved by its main indices.  The DEMEX and the 
DEMTRI finished the session of 4 April 2022 at their record level of 313.53 points and 472.79 points respectively. For the 
period under review, the DEMEX ended with a gain of 4.1% closing the month of June 2022 at 295.92 points.  The DEMTRI 
wrapped the year with a 6.7% growth to close at 450.84. The table depicts performance of the indices during the period under 
review.

INDICES OPENING
1-Jul-21

CLOSING
30-Jun-22 Change (%)

DEMEX 284.38 295.92 4.1

DEMTRI (RS) 422.72 450.84 6.7

DEMTRI (US) 313.66 317.52 1.2

Market Capitalisation ( Rs Bn ) 59.94 51.74 (13.7)

Turnover and Volume Traded

The DEM witnessed a huge jump in trading activities during the year. Total value traded stood at Rs 1.9 billion compared to Rs 
741.9 million last year i.e. an increase of Rs 1.1 billion. Volume of shares exchanged grew by 253.6% and stood at 322.9 
million at end of June 2022. The chart below shows the value and volume traded during the last three years.
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Foreign Investment

Total purchases by foreigners amounted to Rs 32.4 million during the year whereas total sales stood at Rs 62.6 million resulting 
in a net outflow of Rs 30.2 million. The chart below shows the evolution of net foreign investments on a monthly basis for the 
financial year 2021-2022.
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Market Capitalization

Market capitalization of the DEM constituents fell by 13.7% during the period under review and stood at Rs 51.7bn at end of 
June 2022. The fall in market capitalization is due to the migration of Ascencia Ltd to the Official Market. The chart below shows 
the breakdown of market capitalization into different sectors.
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Top ten companies in terms of Total Return

The following table shows the top ten companies in terms of total return for the financial year under review which ranges from 
23.9% to 193%.

Companies Listing Date 01-Jul-21 30-Jun-22 Change (%)

The Union Sugar Estates Co. Ltd 29-Jan-07 418.4 1,225.8 193.0

Constance La Gaiete Company Ltd 29-Jan-07 104.5 218.0 108.6

Les Gaz  Industriels  Ltd 04-Aug-06 51.5 107.3 108.3

The Bee Equity Partners Ltd  04-Aug-06 1,103.3 1,993.9 80.7

Constance Hotels Services  Ltd 04-Aug-06 34.5 55.7 61.4

Hotelest Ltd 04-Aug-06 38.9 59.8 53.7

ABC Banking Corporation Limited 18-Jan-16 101.8 137.7 35.3

Livestock Feed  Ltd (Ordinary) 04-Aug-06 1,732.0 2,255.7 30.2

Mauritius Cosmetics  Ltd  04-Aug-06 397.1 494.5 24.5

Semaris Ltd 11-Oct-19 25.1 31.1 23.9
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In the context of the evolving key importance of data in the connected financial markets space, market data is growingly 
becoming a key component in uncovering new pathways for business development across Exchanges globally, and increasing 
the breadth and depth of the market. Similarly, digital technologies are fast changing expectations from investors and the way 
traditional business is being conducted on Exchanges. In this context, for financial year 2022-2023 and beyond, market data 
business and digital transformation are set to underpin SEM’s strategic drive, in embracing the strategic reform of SEM’s market 
data operations as well as emphasize on enhanced investor services that innovative technologies are creating.

Key Undertakings for 2021-2022

Strategic Reform of SEM’s Market Data Operations

Based on thorough technical discussions and evidence gathered from peer Exchanges and Data Distributors during 2020 and 
2021, a new reform strategy of SEM’s Market Data Operations, has been worked out in a carefully thought-out way, to introduce 
a: (1) SEM Market Data Policy; (2) New User Reporting; (3) Non-Display Policy; (4) New Billing Model. The overriding 
objective behind this strategic reform and new business model, is to align with international standards under a carefully balanced 
approach, and spearhead the success of market data business as a stronger sustainable fixed income revenue stream in the 
long run.

The SEM Market Data Policy (“Policy”) technically governs the use, redistribution, display, non-display and reporting of Data by 
Distributors, Redistributors, and all Data Users of SEM Market Data. The new User Reporting is underpinned by a new Billing 
Model, based on the traditional fixed license fees payable by the Data Distributor and the newly introduced variable data usage 
reporting fees by Unit of Count. In a nutshell, data usage will be reported by Contracted Distributing Users:

(i) in relation to, internal display use only i.e. where the Data Feed User allows only internal Individual Data Users to use the 
Data by means of display applications and not for Non-Display Use (which internal display distribution will not require the 
data Feed User to be licensed with SEM and will only pay fees by Unit of Count); or

(ii) in relation to, external display distribution only i.e. where, in addition to possible distribution to internal Individual End Users, 
the Data Feed User distributes such Data to external End Users by means of display applications (which external display use 
will require the Data Feed User to be licensed with SEM, and pay fixed license fees at the level of the Data Distributor and 
variable data usage reporting fees by Unit of Count; or 

(iii) in relation to, Non-Display Use i.e. where the Data Feed User uses such Data to support one or more Non-Display Uses. 
Non-Display Use pertains to accessing, processing, consumption or use of data for any purpose other than in support of its 
display or distribution (Non-Display Use is governed by the Non-Display Policy and certain Non-Display Use, including the 
use of Specified Data, will require the Data Feed User to be licensed with SEM, pay fixed license fees at the level of the 
Data Distributor and variable data usage reporting fees per Unit); or

(iv) in a combination of any of the above three uses (which will, in relation to Non-Display Use and/or redistribution, require the 
Data Feed User to be licensed with SEM, and pay fixed license fees at the level of the Data Distributor and variable data 
usage reporting fees per Unit).

The Billing Model for Market Data has been reformed as follows: (i) Redistribution Annual License fees for redistribution of real-
time, delayed or end-of-day services; (ii) Real-time Monthly Market Data fees chargeable by Unit of Count and current offering of 
service levels offered by SEM. namely: Level 1 (Best, Bid, Offer), Level 2 (Market Depth); Indices; (iii) Listed Company License, 
(iv) Non-Display Application Usage; and (v) Connectivity via VPN.

Launching of a new mySEM Mobile APP

Digital web technology is of immediate relevance in the areas of market development and enhancement of investor services for 
the SEM, in reaching out to a broader local and global base and enabling on-demand offerings, where investors and issuers 
can pull services from the Exchange rather than with the classic push model. After the very first version launched back in 2018, 
2022 has set the scene for a second leg of SEM’s digital transformation with the development of a re-designed and high-end 
fully-responsive mySEM Progressive web APP.

In effect, SEM launched in May 2022 a new fully responsive mySEM APP with a new look and feel, retaining the key features 
of the previous one, while introducing new and enhanced interactive app functionalities. The new mySEM app version is a 
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Progressive Web App (PWA), delivered through the web via URL https://mysem.stockexchangeofmauritius.com and can be 
used on any platform (desktop and mobile), within the palm reach of investors.
This mySEM APP version aims at empowering investors to follow the market in real-time, seize market opportunities and trade 
in real-time, and have online access to their CDS accounts to monitor their account activity and account status. In addition to 
the new look and feel, mySEM also provides investors seamless access to a broad array of market data in real-time, including 
company specific order books, highs and lows, best bids and asks, and other relevant company-specific data. It also introduces 
interactive charting for all listed scrips on different time-scales up to 12 months.

mySEM APP relates to a number of ground-breaking initiatives implemented by the SEM in recent years to avail investors of 
improved digital services and enhanced trading and operational efficiency. The digital journey for SEM is definitely on and 
like most businesses, it is an ongoing process of working on how to change and embrace operational business opportunities 
underpinned by digital technologies. 

Implementation of the African Exchanges Linkage Project (AELP)

In the context of the African Linkages Project (“AELP”) which aims at promoting and improving the connectivity of the African 
financial markets, the SEM was represented on the Commercial Committee of AELP to establish the framework for cross-border 
securities trading among participating African Exchanges. The agenda of the Commercial Committee was to implement a 
dedicated website by March-2021 (www.africanexchangeslink.com), conduct a technical survey with 50 buy side managers 
across all the market, work on on-boarding of brokers and issuers, and work on the chain-process and technical live date of 18 
November 2022.

In essence, each Exchange will operate according to its normal trading hours and days and within its time zone. All instruments 
which are listed on the participating Exchange and which are accessible to foreign investors via a local sponsoring broker will 
be eligible for trading through the AELP Link. Once the Broker has an arrangement with the Sponsoring Broker on the Exchange 
(Host Exchange) where a client wishes to buy or sell his/her security, the actual trade execution will follow the market practice of 
that Exchange, while settlement of the trade will be using the clearing and settlement system of the Host Exchange. 

In terms of the broker on-boarding process for AELP, SEM initially relayed a broker engagement launch packet to all licensed 
investment dealers in December 2021, as an invitation for participation. By end of February 2022, as per ASEA’s onboarding 
requirements, the 5 brokerage houses for Mauritius were registered as follows: AXYS Stockbroking, Capital Market Brokers, 
MCB Stockbrokers, and MUA Stockbroking and Swan Securities. SEM ensured a close ongoing co-ordination with the 5 brokers 
along the chain process and emphasized their active involvement in the AELP project, in order to ensure that foreign brokers are 
made aware of the good investment opportunities available in Mauritius, so that these foreign brokers can in turn encourage 
their clients to invest on the SEM.

Future Undertakings for 2022-2023

Strategic Reform Implementation for Data Business Operations

As of end of financial year 2021-2022, data business operations accounted for 3% of SEM’s total revenue, and 10% of SEM’s 
income revenue stream other than income from transaction and listing fees. Although these figures reflect the positive results of 
our market data business development efforts over time to broaden and diversify our fixed income revenue base, there is more 
that can be done to take this income revenue stream higher to international standards, the reason for last financial year’s reform.
In this context, SEM will execute the signing of a Variation Agreement with existing Contracted Distributing Users which have 
a Distributor or Re-distributor data agreement directly with the SEM, to reflect this reform, effective as of 01 July 2022. Looking 
forward, the aim for FY 2022-2023 and beyond is to implement the reform in practice, align with international standards, and 
embark on a new sustainable fixed income revenue footing, for all market data sourced indirectly and/or directly from the SEM: 
(1) Real-Time Level 1 Equities/Debt data; (2) Real-Time Level 2 Equities/Debt data; (3) Delayed Data; and (4) Specified End-
Of-Day Data.
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Go-Live of the African Exchanges Linkage Project (AELP)

In preparation for the Go-Live of the AELP Linkage Project on 18 November 2022, SEM will be working closely on the UAT 
with all on-boarded brokers during the month of August and September along with Direct FN which is connected to SEM’s ATS 
FIX server. Direct FN has been contracted for offering the trading terminal solution for the design and rollout of the AELP Link 
technology platform for routing orders and trade confirmations between stockbrokers on the 7 Exchanges participating in AELP. 
The African Stockbrokers and Security Dealers Association (ASSDA) will hold a collective meeting in September 2022 with all 
the National Broker Associations and the respective brokers to push the pairing. The launching of the AELP Linkage Project is 
targeted in Q4 2022 in Abidjan, where SEM will be present amongst all Exchanges.

Similarly, an AELP network database of brokers along with an engagement packet, will be built for relay to all listed issuers 
on SEM, in preparation for the Go-Live date. SEM believes that this initiative will enable issuers listed on SEM to reach out to 
foreign brokers one-on-one. In so doing, listed companies will be encouraged to nominate one centralized contact ideally from 
the Investor Relations Department to be the point of contact with foreign brokers to make themselves known abroad. SEM listed 
companies can leverage on this and reach-out to the whole AELP broker network from different participating Exchanges in all 
their communications including investor meetings and roadshow presentations.  In turn, these listed issuers will have access to a 
wider pool of investors, which should allow them to raise more capital across different countries.
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The SEM has delivered a sound performance in line with its objectives for the financial year 2021-2022, despite the challenging 
economic environment and global economic conditions. The main achievement during the year has been the launching of 
a new high-end Automated Trading System (ATS) and a new fully responsive MySEM app on 13th May 2022. Changes 
brought by the FSC to the securities legislative and regulatory framework to align with international best practices with a view 
to promoting Mauritius as an attractive International Financial Centre and a cost-effective Capital Markets destination, have 
entailed consequential amendments to the SEM’s Rules. New Rules have also been introduced to cater for the listing of Special 
Purpose Acquisition Companies (SPACs) in line with the announcement made in the 2021/2022 Budget by the Government. 
The SEM has additionally brought a number of changes to its rules in the context of the implementation of its new Automated 
Trading Platform and, also more generally, for the purpose of introducing more clarity in the application of the rules and for 
promoting higher operational efficiencies for both the SEM and its stakeholders. In line with its internationalization strategy to 
attract global players to its markets, the SEM has also given its approval, subject to authorization by the FSC, to a remote broker 
to become a Trading Member of the Exchange.  The Legal Affairs Department has been actively involved in the different strategic 
initiatives of the SEM during the financial year 2021-2022 and has worked in close collaboration with the relevant departments 
of the SEM, the regulator and other stakeholders to ensure the smooth implementation of all the changes brought, during the 
year, to its regulatory set-up.  

Amendments to ATS Schedule of Procedures in the context of the implementation of a new Automated 
Trading System (ATS) by SEM

The SEM has implemented an upgraded Automated Trading Platform which went live in May 2022. In this context, some 
technical amendments have been brought to the ATS Schedule of Procedures (Trading Procedures) to reflect the functionalities 
and features of the new ATS. The changes brought to the Trading Procedures mainly relate to the functionalities of ‘tick size’ 
and ‘minimum fill’. The definition of ‘tick size for debt instruments’ has been removed and replaced by a new definition of 
‘tick size’which is aligned across different Boards. Similarly, the requirements in relation to ‘tick size’ throughout the Trading 
Procedures have been harmonised across all types of financial instruments traded on the SEM. The regulatory amendments have 
also addressed some concerns expressed by the investment dealers in relation to minimum fill orders. Henceforth, minimum fill 
orders are treated no differently from normal orders and a 3-step matching algorithm that is universal to all order types and which 
keeps the order book clear of any unexecuted quantities, is being applied. The amendments to the Trading Procedures have 
been the subject of consultation with the investment dealers at a meeting of the Consultative and Informative Committee held on 
11th October 2021 and the investment dealers have expressed their agreement thereto. SEM Board approval was subsequently 
obtained at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 29th November 2021. The FSC gave its approval to the regulatory 
changes on 11th January 2022. However, the revised ATS Schedule of Procedures came into force on the 13th May 2022, 
which is the live date of the new ATS.

Amendments to the Listing Rules for the Official Market and to the Rules for the Development & 
Enterprise Market (DEM Rules)

Following a number of transformational reforms and changes brought by the FSC to the securities legislative and regulatory 
framework to facilitate the introduction of innovative financial products and activities in Mauritius, the SEM has brought some 
consequential changes to its rules to align those rules with the revamped framework. By the same token, the SEM has also 
brought some technical amendments to the Listing Rules and the DEM Rules to align with best practice and to introduce better 
clarity in the rules to facilitate compliance. Below is a summary of the salient changes to the Listing Rules and DEM Rules.

Amendments brought by the FSC to the Securities (Disclosure Obligations of Reporting Issuers) Rules 2007 bring added flexibility 
in terms of the disclosure obligations of reporting issuers. These amendments aim at enhancing the competitiveness of the 
Mauritian jurisdiction and promoting the growth and development of capital markets through enhanced efficiency in the best 
interests of all market users. The Listing Rules and DEM Rules have been aligned with the revised Securities (Disclosure Obligations 
of Reporting Issuers) Rules 2007. Consequently, issuers now have the option to choose whether they will make publications on 
their website or in newspapers, thus decreasing their administrative and financial burden of compliance and making a listing 
on the SEM more competitive to potential issuers. Henceforth, a reporting issuer has the option to publish certain press releases 
as well as notice of every annual or special meeting either in the press or on its website. The same applies for publication of 
annual and quarterly financial statements. For annual financial statements, a reporting issuer now has the option to publish its 
accounts on its website or to send them to the FSC, the Securities Exchange where it is listed, every member of the reporting 
issuer and every holder of debt securities issued by the reporting issuer. With regard to the publication of quarterly financial 
statements, a reporting issuer now also has the option to publish these accounts and the notice of publication on its website or 
in the newspapers

Furthermore, as part of an initiative to promote the sustainability agenda, both at the level of the SEM and at the level of listed 



72 LEGAL ACTIVITIES (CONT’ D)

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

companies, the requirements for listed issuers to file hard copies of Interim (Quarterly) Reports with the SEM has been removed 
and such filings are required to be made in soft copies only. The foremost benefit of these amendments is to lessen the impact 
to the environment. For listed issuers, these amendments will effectively lead to a decrease in the use of paper, and in this way, 
reduce costs linked to paper, printing and postage, as well as carbon footprint, while at the same time increasing operating 
efficiencies. Compared with hard copies, electronic content and records do not use up physical space in filing cabinets and 
can be retrieved in seconds and accessed simultaneously. Limiting filings of interim (quarterly) reports to soft copies also makes 
for higher operational efficiencies for the SEM. 

As mentioned above, some technical amendments designed to introduce more clarity with regard to the application of the rules 
include:

The introduction of clear provisions regarding the time for new securities to be listed after approval of listing on both the Official 
Market and the DEM

Previously, neither the Listing Rules nor the DEM Rules clearly specified the number of days, as from the date of approval of 
listing, after which new securities can be admitted on the Official Market or DEM. In practice, the SEM has been admitting new 
securities on its markets after a period of 14 days as the approved listing documents are made available for inspection for a 
minimum of 14 days following the date of approval. Both the Listing Rules and DEM Rules have been amended to provide that 
new securities can be admitted on the SEM’s markets after a minimum of 5 business days following the date of approval. The 
shorter delay of 5 business days renders the listing process more expedient and competitive. It should be noted that the period 
during which listing documents are made available for inspection has still been maintained as 14 days.

The inclusion of an explicit definition of the term ‘insider of an issuer’ in the definition section of the Listing Rules and the Glossary 
of the DEM Rules

This definition is aligned with the definition of the term ‘insider of a reporting issuer’ in the law but it is also captures all listed 
companies including those that would not fall under the definition of ‘reporting issuer’ under the amended Securities Act 2005.

The introduction of a definition for ‘close period’ in the definition section of the Listing Rules which matches the definition of this 
term under the DEM Rules for better consistency and clarity in the application of the rules

A new Listing Rule 11.26B has been introduced in line with the provisions of the DEM Rules which specifically sets out the 
requirement for close period in the Listing Rules, in addition to the references being made to this term in Appendix 6 of the Listing 
Rules. 

The inclusion of the appropriate wording in the Listing Rules to ensure consistency with the prospectus requirements of the FSC

In the case of public issues where the same document submitted to the FSC as Prospectus is also submitted to the SEM as Listing 
Particulars, the rules have been clarified and made explicit to reflect the procedure for filing of the appropriate document with 
the FSC. The rules specifically require the issuer, in such cases, to provide a statement that a copy of the Listing Particulars has 
been filed with the FSC, or where applicable, a statement that the Prospectus, deemed to be Listing Particulars, has been granted 
registration by the FSC.

Following the consultation process with the relevant stakeholders, approval of the SEM Board to the above amendments to the 
Listing Rules and DEM Rules were approved on 29 November 2021. The FSC gave its approval on 11 January 2022.

Amendments to the SEM Rules to improve efficiency in the context of changes brought to the broader 
legislative and regulatory framework of the securities market by the FSC

In line with the spirit of the ground breaking legislative and regulatory changes brought by the FSC, as described earlier, the SEM 
has amended its rules to ease certain administrative processes in view of introducing added flexibility and improved efficiency 
in the operations of the Exchange in the interest of its market users. Henceforth, the granting of waivers pertaining to operational 
matters under the rules of the SEM do not require prior FSC approva,l but only SEM approval. The FSC shall be notified forthwith 
of any such waivers which have been granted by the SEM.

As an example, in line with the practice in other well-known Exchanges, the SEM has reviewed the current procedure for granting 
waivers in the context of post-listing obligations under Listing Rule 2.3(b). The requirement to seek prior approval of the FSC for 
the granting of such waivers has been removed and the rules require that the FSC be forthwith notified instead.
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The same applies for waivers granted under the provisions of the Stock Exchange (Conduct of Trading Operations) Rules 
2001 (Trading Rules) and under the ATS Schedule of Procedures (Trading Procedures). Prior approval of the FSC is no longer a 
requirement for the granting of waivers under Rule 27 of the Trading Rules. Moreover, the SEM may change the time of trading 
sessions after having published these changes in the Official Bulletin and in two newspapers of wide circulation within the delay 
prescribed in the Rules without requiring prior approval of the FSC. In both cases, the SEM has an obligation to inform the FSC 
forthwith.

Similarly, the procedure for granting waivers under Sections 10.1.5 and 10.1.6 of the Trading Procedures in relation to crossings 
have been reviewed to remove the requirement for seeking prior FSC approval. Such exemptions are purely of an operational 
nature and are granted in very specific cases, such as takeover offers, share buy backs, offer for sale, etc., to enable the relevant 
parties to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements to effect transfers of listed shares on the Crossing Board.

These streamlined procedures will help alleviate the administrative burden and make the decision process at the level of the SEM 
in respect of operational matters more efficient to the benefit of market users.

The above regulatory amendments have been circulated for consultation to the relevant stakeholders who have expressed their 
support thereto and approved by the Board of Directors of SEM on 29 November 2021 and 24 March 2022. FSC approval 
was respectively obtained on 11 January 2022 for amendments relating to the Trading Rules and Procedures and on 28 June 
2022 for amendments pertaining to waivers under the Listing Rules.

Proposed amendments to DEM Rules to cater for SPACs

In line with its ongoing strategy of internationalization which dates back to 2009, the SEM is proposing to amend the DEM Rules 
to cater for a new asset class to its product offering, namely the Special Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC). The Board of 
Directors of the SEM has, at its meeting held on 24 March 2022, approved the inclusion of a new Schedule to the DEM Rules, 
which sets out the requirements for SPACs to be listed on this market. The proposed rules are in line with measures announced in 
the 2021/2022 Budget to sustain the development of the financial services sector in Mauritius and increase the competitiveness 
of the Mauritius International Financial Centre (IFC) vis à vis other international financial markets. As the momentum for SPACs is 
on the rise in international markets, the Government of Mauritius announced that, the Stock Exchange would introduce rules for 
SPACs. The proposed amendments to the DEM Rules for the listing of SPACs are currently under consideration by the Financial 
Services Commission.

Application for authorisation of a foreign investment dealer

On 29th November 2021, the Board of Directors of the SEM has approved the application submitted by a foreign investment 
dealer, Russellstone International (PTY) Ltd, to be admitted as Trading Member of SEM, subject to the investment dealer being 
authorised by the FSC to conduct dealings on the SEM. The application by the same investment dealer to become a participant 
of the Central Depository & Settlement Co. Ltd (CDS) has also been approved by the CDS Board. Pursuant to the provisions 
of the revamped Securities (Authorisation of Foreign Investment Dealers) Rules 2010, the SEM has submitted, on behalf of the 
foreign investment dealer, an application for authorisation to the FSC. The application is still under consideration by the FSC.
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SEM TOTAL INCOME COMPOSITION

The Total Income of the SEM is categorized as follows:

• Transaction fees, which represent 44.8% of the total revenue of the SEM for the financial year 2022.

• Annual listing fees and Application fees for new listings represent 26.4% of SEM’s total revenue. 

• Income derived from Investments made by the SEM constitutes 10.5% while Dividends from our subsidiary company (CDS 
Ltd) represent 7.2% of total revenue of the SEM.

• Sale of Data and Adverts on SEM WEB site represent 6% of SEM’s total revenue.

• Fees received from Corporate Actions, Accreditation, Service and Membership fees paid by the Member Companies for 
the use of the ATS system, together constitute 3.8% of SEM’s total revenue. 

• Foreign exchange gains & miscellaneous income represent 1% and Capital grant allocated as income for this financial year, 
represents 0.3% of SEM’s total revenue.

The chart which follows, illustrates the Total Income composition of the SEM for the financial year under review:

TRANSACTION FEES : 44.8 %

LISTING & APPLICATION FEES : 26.4 %

10.5 % : INVESTMENT INCOME

7.2 % : DIVIDENDS

6.0 % : SALE OF DATA & ADVERTS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS & 
MISCELLANEOUS INCOME : 1.0 %

DEFERRED INCOME - GRANT : 0.3 %

Income Composition-FY 2022

3.8 % : CORPORATE ACTIONS, SERVICE,  
ACCREDITATION & ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FEES
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COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF INCOME STREAMS

The table below compares the income streams of the SEM for the financial years 2022 and 2021 and calculates the percentage 
changes for each category of income over the two financial years.

Income FY 2022 FY 2021 % Change

Rs'M Rs'M

Transaction fees 63.6 50.5 26%

Annual Listing & Application fees 37.4 38.3 -2%
Corporate Actions, Service,  Accreditation & Annual
Membership fees

5.4 4.9 10%

Sale of Information & Advert on SEM WEB site 8.5 7.2 18%

Investment Income 14.9 15.9 -6%

Dividends 10.2 8.1 26%

Foreign exchange gains & Miscellaneous Income 1.5 3.6 -58%

Deferred Income -Grant 0.4 - -

Total 141.9 128.5 10.4%

An analysis of the income streams of the SEM indicates an overall increase of 11% during financial year 2022 as compared to 
financial year 2021, as a result of the picking up of the local market activities during the year 2021-2022.

Revenue derived from transaction fees for FY 2022 amounted to Rs63.6 m, an increase of 26% as compared to the FY 2021.  
This was mainly due to an increase in the volume of shares traded on both Markets during the year under review. 

Annual Listing and Application fees amounted to Rs37.4 m, a decrease of 2% as compared to FY 2021, which was mainly due 
to less applications being received during the year under review.

Due to the decline in the prevailing market rates, long-term deposits reaching their maturity during the year, were renewed at a 
much lower rate of return.  This resulted in a decrease in the income derived from Investments by 6%, Rs14.9 m for the FY 2022 
(FY 2021: Rs15.9 m).

Dividends receivable from the CDS for the FY 2022 are expected at Rs10.2 m, an increase of 26% as compared to the previous 
FY 2021 (Rs8.1 m).

Income derived from the sale of data and adverts on SEM WEB site increased by 18%, reaching an amount of Rs8.5 m for the 
year under review (FY 2021 – Rs7.2 m).   This increase was mainly due to an increase in the income from adverts on the SEM 
WEB site during the year.

The income derived from Corporate Actions, Accreditation, Service and Membership fees increased by 10% over last year and 
totalled Rs5.4 m (FY 2021 – Rs4.9 m).

Foreign exchange gains and Miscellaneous Income decreased by 58%,  from Rs3.6 m in the FY 2021 to Rs1.5 m in the FY 
2022 . 
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TREND IN REVENUE COMPOSITION OVER 3 YEARS 

The following chart  illustrates the trend over the past three financial years 2020 to 2022 of the revenue composition of the SEM:
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COSTS

Costs are made up of personnel expenses (salaries and benefits), IT expenses, cost of depreciation, administrative expenses, 
marketing expenses, cost of regulation and Other costs.

Personnel expenses (salaries and benefits) and IT expenses are the major cost items for the SEM and together, represent 83% of 
SEM’s total expenses for the year under review.

Administrative expenses and Other costs together accounted for 8% of SEM’s total expenses for the FY 2022, while the cost of 
Depreciation represents 5%.

Marketing cost and the cost of regulation each, accounted for 2% of SEM’s total expenses.

SALARIES AND BENEFITS : 74 %

OTHER COSTS : 3 %

9 % : IT

5.0 % : DEPRECIATION

2.0 % : MARKETING 

2.0 % : COST OF REGULATION 

5.0 % : ADMIN

Cost Composition - FY 2022
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COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF COSTS BREAKDOWN

The table below compares the costs breakdown of the SEM for the financial years 2022 and 2021 and calculates the 
percentage changes for each category of cost over the two financial years.

FY 2022 FY 2021 Change

Rs'M Rs'M %

Salaries and benefits 56.9 43.5 31%

IT 7.0 6.1 15%

Admin 4.0 3.8 5%

Depreciation 3.9 3.6 8%

Marketing 1.4 1.0 40%

Cost of regulation 1.5 1.5 0%

Other Costs 2.2 2.1 5%

Total Expenses 76.9 61.6 24.8%

On the overall, total expenses of the Company for the FY 2022 increased by 24.8%, from Rs61.6m in the FY 2021 to Rs76.9m 
in the FY 2022.

Salaries and benefits increased by 31%, mainly due to: i)  performance bonuses which were paid to the employees for the FY 
2022;  and ii) to the residual retirement gratuities paid to three employees (including two early retirements)   and a liability loss 
due to a change in the SEM’s pension annuity rates expected for future retirement, as disclosed in the IAS 19 results.

The cost of IT increased by 15%, to provide for the cost of licences and MySEM Bandwidth Upgrades due to the implementation 
of the new ATS System and the new MySEM App.

Marketing expenses increased by 40% from Rs1m in the FY 2021 to Rs1.4m in FY 2022, to cater for listing events and the 
launching of the new ATS system.

Administration cost and Other costs increased each, by 5% as compared to FY 2021, mainly due to increases in the cost of 
insurance, syndic fees and overseas travelling expenses.

Cost of Depreciation increased by 8% as compared to FY 2021, mainly explained by the acquisition of new servers and the 
amortized cost of implementation of the new ATS system.

TREND IN COST COMPOSITION OVER 3 YEARS 

The Chart below illustrates the trend in the cost composition of the Company over the financial years from 2020 to 2022:
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COSTS, REVENUES AND COST TO INCOME RATIO

The following table discloses the total revenues, total costs and the Cost to Income ratio over a five-year period from FY 2018 
to FY 2022.

Financial Year Total Revenues Total Costs Cost/Income Ratio

Rs'M Rs'M %

2018 157.9 64.4 41%

2019 147.4 59.7 41%

2020 147.9 60.9 41%

2021 128.5 61.6 48%

2022 141.9 76.9 54%

The chart below illustrates the trend of ‘Total Revenues’, ‘Total Costs’ and ‘Cost to Income’ ratio over the 5-year period from FY 
2018 to FY 2022.
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PROFIT MARGIN

The following table shows the Total revenues, Net income and Net Profit Margin over a five-year period from FY 2018 to FY 
2022.

Financial Year Total Revenues Net Income Net Profit Margin

(Net Income/Total Revenue)

Rs'M Rs'M %

2018 157.9 93.5 59

2019 147.4 87.7 59

2020 147.9 87.0 59

2021 128.5 66.9 52

2022 141.9 65.0 46
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The chart below depicts the trend of Total Revenue, Net Income and Net Profit Margin over the five-year period from FY 2018 
to FY 2022.
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RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE)

The table below discloses the Net Income, the Shareholders Funds (Equity) and the Return on Equity for the five-year period from 
FY 2018 to FY 2022.

Financial Year Net Income Equity Return on Equity

Rs'M Rs'M %

2018 93.5 383.4 24%

2019 87.7 417.4 21%

2020 87.0 447.0 19%

2021 66.9 473.0 14%

2022 65.0 491.0 13%

SEM Shareholders funds (Equity) over the 5-year period grew significantly by 28.1%  from Rs 383.4 M in FY 2018 to Rs 491 
M in FY 2022.

The following chart illustrates the 5-Year trend of the Net Income, the Shareholders Funds (Equity) and the Return On Equity of the 
Company over the last five years from FY 2018 to FY 2022.
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INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, CASH AND CASH BALANCES

Over the past five-year period, Investments in financial instruments, Cash and cash balances went up by 40.5% from Rs346 M 
in FY 2018 to Rs486 M in FY 2022.

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Rs'M Rs'M Rs'M Rs'M Rs'M

Investments in Financial instruments, 
Cash and Cash balances 346 395 445 464 486

The trend of  ‘Investments in financial instruments’, Cash and Cash balances of the Company over the past five years from 2018 
to 2022, is illustrated in the chart below.
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WEALTH CREATED AND DISTRIBUTED BY THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Rs’million % Rs’million %

Turnover 106.5 93.7
Other Income 35.4 34.8
Administrative Expenses -14.9 -13.7
TOTAL WEALTH CREATED 127.0 100% 114.8 100%

DISTRIBUTED AS FOLLOWS:
Members of Staff
Salaries and other benefits 56.9 45% 43.5 38%

Providers of Capital
Dividends to ordinary shareholders 37 29% 32.3 28%
Government - taxation 10.7 8% 9.8 9%

47.7 37% 42.1 37%
Wealth reinvested in the Company to
maintain and develop operations:
Profit retained 18.5 15% 25.6 22%
Depreciation 3.9 3% 3.6 3%

22.4 18% 29.2 25%
TOTAL WEALTH DISTRIBUTED AND RETAINED 127.0 100% 114.8 100%
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the Report of the Auditors, set out on pages 92 to 94, is 
made with a view to distinguishing the respective responsibilities of the Directors and of the auditors in relation to the financial 
statements.
 
The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2001 to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss 
and cash flow for the financial year.  

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements on pages 95 to 137 the Company has used appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all 
applicable accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that the Company keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of the Company and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
Company and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Other responsibilities of the Directors include overseeing the implementation and upholding of good Corporate Governance 
practices and ensuring that effective systems of internal controls and risk management have been maintained.

     
Dipak Chummun      Sunil Benimadhu
Chairman       Executive Director

Date: 22nd September 2022
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CERTIFICATE FROM THE COMPANY SECRETARY

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as 
are required of the Company under the Companies Act 2001 in terms of Section 166 (d).

Christophe Neveu (FCCA)
Secretary

Date: 22nd September 2022
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (the “Company” 
or the “Public Interest Entity”) and its subsidiary (the “Group) set out on pages 88 to 130, which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated and separate 
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial po-
sition of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2022, and of their consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and comply with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  Our responsibilities under those Stan-
dards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standard Board for Accoun-
tants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report, Corporate Gover-
nance Report, Statement of Compliance, the Certificate from the Company’s Secretary’s and additional information, but does not 
include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius Com-
panies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004 and they are also responsible for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD

of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism through-
out the audit.  We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dis-
closures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Com-
pany to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Mauritius Companies Act 2001

In accordance with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, we report as follows:
• we have no relationship with, or interest in, the Company and its subsidiary other than in our capacity as auditor and tax 

advisor;
• we have obtained all information and explanations that we have required; and 
• in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination of those 

records.

Corporate Governance Report

Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act 2004 is to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate Gover-
nance disclosed in the annual report and assess the explanations given for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. 
From our assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual report, the Public Interest Entity has, pursuant 
to section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act 2004, complied with the requirements of the Code.

Use of this report

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 205 of the Mauritius Compa-
nies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

      
Deloitte R. Srinivasa Sankar, FCA
Chartered Accountants Licensed by FRC

22nd September 2022

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 



88

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 30 JUNE 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5  52,826  47,633  36,715  30,288 
Intangible assets 6  25,737  622  25,711  552 
Investment in subsidiary 7  -    -    7,650  7,650 
Investments in financial assets 8  554,142  557,966  336,839  319,007 
Stock Exchange Compensation Fund 9  5,284  5,215  5,284  5,215 
Deferred Tax Asset 14 (iii)  689  438  -    -   
Other receivables 11  2,718  4,338  2,183  3,150 

 641,396  616,212  414,382  365,862 
Current assets
Inventories 10  452  498  -    -   
Trade and other receivables 11  23,073  16,940  27,148  19,589 
Investments in financial assets 8  217,824  155,616  133,819  125,042 
Cash and bank balances  23,501  37,387  14,881  20,352 

 264,850  210,441  175,848  164,983 
TOTAL ASSETS  906,246  826,653  590,230  530,845 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital 12  50,050  50,050  50,050  50,050 
Retained earnings  579,279  553,893  441,000  422,498 
Equity attributable to owners of the company  629,329  603,943  491,050  472,548 
Non-controlling interest  150,095  141,427  -    - 
TOTAL EQUITY  779,424  745,370  491,050  472,548 
Stock Exchange Compensation Fund 9  5,284  5,215  5,284  5,215 

 784,708  750,585  496,334  477,763 
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations 13  26,925  20,132  15,786  10,798 
Deferred taxation 14 (iii)  1,547  154  1,547  154 
Deferred income - grant 25  22,777  -    22,777  -   

 51,249  20,286  40,110  10,952 
Current liabilties
Trade and other payables 15  29,959  18,765  14,156  6,170 
Tax Liability 14 (i)  751  4,715  51  3,658 
Deferred income - grant 25  2,579  -    2,579  -   
Dividends 16  37,000  32,302  37,000  32,302 

 70,289  55,782  53,786  42,130 
Total liabilities  121,538  76,068  93,896  53,082 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  906,246  826,653  590,230  530,845 

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 22nd September 2022

Dipak Chummun     Sunil Benimadhu
Chairman      Executive Director
  
The notes from pages 93 to 130 form an integral part of these financial statements 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000
Revenue 18 166,496 144,228 106,485 93,652 
Other income 19 (a) 14,350 14,703 20,420 18,861 

Investment Income 19 (b) 23,813 23,317 14,984 15,951 
Administrative expenses (101,032) (92,130) (68,655) (60,755)
Impairment losses on trade receivables 11 (772) (847) (772) (847)
Operating profit 102,855 89,271 72,462 66,862 
Contribution to Guarantee Fund 21 (23) (18)         -         -
Profit before taxation 17 102,832 89,253 72,462 66,862 
Income tax expense 14 (ii) (17,114) (15,082) (10,678) (9,827)
Profit after taxation 85,718 74,171 61,784 57,035 
Transfer to Stock Exchange Compensation Fund 9 (69) (66) (69) (66)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 85,649 74,105 61,715 56,969 
Other Comprehensive Income:-
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligations 13 (8,201) 18,386 (7,486) 1,085 
Deferred tax on  actuarial (loss)/gain on retirement benefit 
obligations 14 (iii) 1,395 (3,125) 1,273 (184)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (6,806) 15,261 (6,213) 901 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 78,843 89,366 55,502 57,870 
Profit for the year attributable to:-
Owners of the Company 68,936 61,754 61,715 56,969 
Non-controlling interest 16,713 12,351 -         -

85,649 74,105 61,715 56,969 
Total comprehensive income attributable to :
Owners of the Company 62,386 69,978 55,502 57,870 
Non-controlling interest 16,457 19,388 -         -

78,843 89,366 55,502 57,870 

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company 20  13.79  12.35 

The notes from pages 93 to 130 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

(a)  THE GROUP

Issued
Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Retained
earnings

Attributable
to owners

of the
company

Non
controlling

interest

Total
Equity

Note

Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000

Balance at 1 July 2020  50,000  50  516,217  566,267  133,653  699,920 

Profit for the year  -    -    61,754  61,754  12,351  74,105 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year - - 8,224   8,224 7,037  15,261  

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  -    -    69,978  69,978  19,388  89,366 

Proposed dividends to 
owners of the Company 16 - -  (32,302)  (32,302)  -    (32,302)

Dividends paid to
non-controlling interest  -    -    -    -    (11,614)  (11,614)

Balance at 30 June 2021  50,000  50  553,893  603,943  141,427  745,370 

Balance at 1 July 2021  50,000  50  553,893  603,943  141,427  745,370 

Profit for the year  -    -    68,936  68,936  16,713  85,649 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  -    -    (6,550)  (6,550)  (256)  (6,806)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  -    -    62,386  62,386  16,457  78,843 

Proposed dividends to 
owners of the Company 16  -    -    (37,000)  (37,000) -    (37,000)

Dividends paid to
non-controlling interest  -    -    -    -    (7,789)  (7,789)

Balance at 
30 June 2022  50,000  50  579,279  629,329  150,095  779,424 

The notes from pages 93 to 130 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D)
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

(b)  THE COMPANY

Issued
Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Retained
earnings Total

Note

Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000

Balance at 1 July 2020  50,000  50  396,930  446,980 

Profit for the year        -        -  56,969  56,969 

Other comprehensive income for the year        -        -  901  901 

Total comprehensive income for the year        -        -  57,870  57,870 

Proposed dividends 16        -        -  (32,302)  (32,302)

Balance at 30 June 2021 50,000  50  422,498  472,548 

Balance at 1 July 2021  50,000  50  422,498  472,548 

Profit for the year        -        -  61,715  61,715 

Other comprehensive income for the year - -  (6,213)  (6,213)

Total comprehensive income for the year        -        -  55,502  55,502 

Proposed dividends 16        -        -  (37,000)  (37,000)

Balance at 30 June 2022  50,000  50  441,000  491,050 

The notes from pages 93 to 130 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000 Rs'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 102,832 89,253 72,462 66,862 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,860 5,009 3,237 3,385 

Amortisation of intangible assets 671 234 627 189 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 240 (605) 240 (605)

Fair value gain on investments held at FVTPL (1,577) (537)         -         -

Impairment of financial assets 772 847 772 847 

Deferred income - Grant (430)         - (430)         -

Interest receivable (22,236) (22,678) (14,984) (15,951)

Retirement benefit obligations charge (net) (1,408) 2,921 (2,498) 896 

Dividend receivable (708) (493) (10,175) (8,071)

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES 83,016 73,951 49,251 47,552 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 46 (86)  -    - 

Decrease in trade and other receivables (5,286) (438) (5,260) (2,460)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 11,195 (408) 7,987 665 

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 88,971 73,019 51,978 45,757 

Income tax paid (18,553) (11,360) (11,632) (7,112)

Tax movement for Compensation Fund 24 32 24 32 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 70,442 61,691 40,370 38,677 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (12,139) (5,049) (11,750) (4,506)

Purchase of intangible assets         - (65)         - (65)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1,846  1,005 1,846 1,005 

Dividend received  708  493 8,071 12,087 

Interest received 35,641 23,935 28,735 15,094 

Investment in financial assets (176,267) (110,383) (146,415) (83,883)

Proceeds from sales of financial assets 105,974 80,926 105,974 63,954 

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (44,237) (9,138) (13,539) 3,686 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend paid to shareholders of holding company (32,302) (43,750)  (32,302)  (43,750)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (7,789) (11,612)  -    -   

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (40,091) (55,362) (32,302) (43,750)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (13,886) (2,809) (5,471) (1,387)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE 
YEAR 37,387 40,196 20,352 21,739 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 23,501 37,387 14,881 20,352 

Non cash movement for the year relates to grant of MUR 25.8 M for the acquisition of intangible assets and which was remitted 
directly to the supplier. 

The notes from pages 93 to 130 form an integral part of these financial statements
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (the "Company") was incorporated as a private company on 31 March 1989. 
Following enactment of the Securities Act 2005, the Company adopted a new constitution and changed its status from 
private to public company on 6th October 2008. Its principal place of business and registered office is situated at One 
Cathedral Square Building, Level 4, 16, Jules Koenig Street, Port Louis.

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiary are: 

The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd : To provide facilities for buying, selling and otherwise dealing in 
securities on the Stock Exchange.

The Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd: (the 
subsidiary)

To provide depository, clearing and settlement service in order to 
facilitate dealings in securities.

The Company and its subsidiary are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“IFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company has applied all of the new and revised Standards Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) of the IASB which are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2021.

2.1 New and Revised IFRS that are effective for the current year.

The following relevant revised Standard have been applied in these financial statements. Their applications have not 
had any significant impact on the amounts reported for current and prior years but may affect the accounting treatment  
for future transactions or arrangements.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of IBOR reform
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding replacement issues in the context of IBOR reform

2.2 New and revised Standards in issue not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant new and revised Standards were in issue 
but effective on annual periods beginning on or after the respective dates as indicated:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current (effective 01 January 2023)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments to defer the effective date of the January 2020 amendments 
(effective 01 January 2023)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the disclosure of accounting policies (effective 
01 January 2023)

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - Amendments regarding the definition of 
accounting estimates (effective 01 January 2023)

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Amendments regarding deferred tax on leases and decommissioning obligations (effective 01 
January 2023)
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IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from the cost of property, 
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset 
for its intended uses (effective 01 January 2022)

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Amendments regarding the costs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous (effective 01 January 2022)

IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective 01 
January 2022)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (fees 
in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities) (effective 01 January 2022)

The directors anticipate that these Standards and Interpretation will be applied on their effective dates in future periods. 
The directors have not yet assessed the potential impact of the application of these amendments. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of financial Statements

The Financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and Financial Reporting Act .

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:     

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Where the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has  power over the investee when 
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holding of the other vote 
holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 

to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary.  Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiary to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows, relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of the consolidated subsidiary are identified separately 
from the Group's equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of original 
business combination and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. 

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as an entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a promised 
goods or services (i.e an asset) to a customer at the agreed transaction price as per the contractual terms when control 
is transferred to the customer, either over time or at a point in time. This is applicable for transaction fees, listing fees, 
annual membership fees and service fees.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(c) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

The consideration to which the Group and the Company expect to be entitled in a contract with a customer excludes 
amount collected on behalf of third parties and takes into consideration any financing component arising on transfer of 
control passed on over time for a period more than one year. 

The main revenue streams are as follows :

(i) Transaction fees

The transactions fees relates to the fees charged by the Group to the brokers on the buying and selling orders placed by 
the latter. Performance obligation of the Group is to give access to the trader to effect individual transaction on official 
market/DEM. Transaction price for this access right to perform transactions on the trading portal is determined in the 
SEM rules (fixed fees applied on the volume of transactions effected during the period of access).  As there is a single 
performance obligation, there is no transaction price allocation. Revenue is recognised at a point in time, that is on 
completion of individual transaction on the portal.

(ii) Listing fees

As stipulated in the listing rules, an issuer must pay the annual fee for listing, calculated in accordance with the rates set 
out in the Listing Rules. The customer is the legal entity which places its shares on the official market/DEM for trading. 
Every listed entities are required to pay their annual listing fees as stated in the Listing Rules. and the DEM Rules. 
Performance obligation would be allowing the entities to list their shares on the SEM or DEM market over a calender 
year. Transaction price is detailed as per the Listing rules and the DEM Rules (Fixed fee per band of market capitalisation 
figure of the legal entity). As there is a single performance obligation, there is no transaction price allocation. Revenue 
is recognised over time, that is over the period the legal entity would be listed on the official market/DEM.

(iii) Service fees and/or Annual Membership fees

These are recognised over time, that is over the listing period or over the period the entity has access to the Automatic 
Trading System (ATS).

(iv) Other revenue

Other revenues earned by  the Group and the Company are recognised on the following basis:-

 - Interest income is accrued over time, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective Interest rate 
applicable.

 - Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s and the Company’s rights to receive payment have been established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Profit or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the carrying value 
of the assets and its net disposal proceeds and is accounted for in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives using the straight line method as follows:

Freehold office premises -  50 Years
Office furniture and equipment -  5 to 8 Years
Computer equipment -  5 Years
Motor vehicles -  5 to 8 Years

(e) Intangible assets

The Automatic Trading System is capitalised at cost and amortised over its estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Other Computer software that is not considered to form an integral part of any hardware equipment is recorded as 
intangible assets and amortised. The other computer software is capitalised at cost and amortised over its estimated 
useful lives of 13 1/2 years.

Amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost of intangible assets less their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives using the straight line method as follows:                    

Automatic Trading System -  10 Years
Other Computer software -  13 1/2 Years

(f) Investment in subsidiary

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiary is stated at cost. The carrying amount is 
reduced if there is any impairment in value.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (determined on the weighted average basis) and net realisable value. Cost 
of inventories comprise all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing such stocks to their present condition 
and location.  Net realisable value is the estimate of the transaction price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(h) Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements are measured using Mauritian Rupees (“Rs”). The financial statements of the 
Group and the Company are presented in Mauritian Rupees, which is the Group’s and the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian Rupees at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities outstanding at year end are translated to Mauritian rupees at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.    

(i) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current Tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s and 
the Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is provided on the comprehensive basis using the liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

(j) Retirement benefits

The Company operates a defined contribution pension plan whereas its subsidiary operates a defined benefit pension 
plan. 

(i)  Defined contribution pension plan and state pension plan

The Company’s contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are charged to profit or loss in the year in which 
they fall due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(j) Retirement benefits (cont’d)

(ii) Defined benefit pension plan

The present value of retirement gratuities under The Workers’ Rights Act 2019 is recognised in the statement of financial 
position as a liability. For defined benefit retirement  plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the 
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. 
Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and 
the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge 
or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. 
Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying 
the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

 - Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and 
settlements).

 - Net interest expense or income.
 - Remeasurement.

The Group and the Company present the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line 
administrative expenses.  Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

(iii) Retirement gratuities under Workers Rights Act

For employees who are not covered or who are insufficiently covered under pension plans, the net present value of 
gratuity on retirement payable under the Workers Right Act 2019 is calculated by Aon Hewitt Ltd and provided for. The 
obligations arising under this item are not funded.

(iv) State pension plan

Contributions to the National Pension Scheme are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they are due.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation as a result of a past event, and 
it is probable that the Group and the Company will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(l) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group and the Company become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

Financial Assets, at amortised costs include trade and other receivable (excluding non financial items like statutory 
deductions and prepayments), cash and bank balances and debt instruments (including the corresponding interest 
receivables) held with financial institutions.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

Despite the foregoing, the Group and the Company may make the following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the Group and the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment 
in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

• the Group and the Company may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration receivable and subsequently 
measured at amortised costs, using the effective interest rate method.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments held with financial institutions are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration paid to obtain 
the right over the financial instruments. Subsequently, the financial assets are recognised at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method. 

Amortised cost and effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated 
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent 
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no 
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group and the Company 
recognise interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus 
the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group and the Company may make an election to designate investments in equity instruments 
(which are not subsidiary nor associates) at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is permitted if the business model is not to 
collect contractual cashflows from these investments. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Investments designated at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value is determined 
using the most appropriate observable inputs for quoted entities and last transaction price of unquoted entities. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The cumulative gain or loss is transferred to retained earnings on disposal.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, unless 
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL:

On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to 
be measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.       

The investments in funds held by the Group and their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis because they are 
held neither to collect conttractual cash flows nor to both collect contractual cash flows and sell.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group and the Company recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI and trade receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument.

The Group and the Company apply the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions (when the trends are observable) and an assessment of both 
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where 
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group and the Company use the general approach to estimate the expected credit 
losses associated with these financial assets (namely deposit and cash at bank balances) using PD and LGD rates at 
country level or most reliable analyst data readily available.

Expected credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-months ECL for Stage 1 (referring to a situation with 
no increase in credit risk) for those deposits/interest which are past due for 0 to 30 days.

Expected credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to life time ECL for Stage 2 ( referring to a situation with 
the increased credit risk since initial recognition) where the receivable from deposits/interest are past due more than 
60 days.

Following 90 days past due period since maturity of the instruments (deposit/interest), the financial assets is categorised 
under Stage 3 whereby the full amount is considered as expected credit losses.

Furthermore, qualitative considerations are considered like financial standing of the financial institutions, operational 
ratios of the financial institutions and reputation on of the financial institutions in domestic market and delays in the 
collection of principal and/or interest on maturity or as per contractual terms.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment of default range

The Group and the Company consider a financial asset like trade receivables in default when contractual payments are 
180 days past due and for other financial assets (like deposit and other receivables), these are specific to the contractual 
terms with the third party. However, in certain cases, the Group and the Company may also consider a financial asset 
to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group and the Company is unlikely to receive 
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. 

(i) Write-off policy

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group and the Company’s recovery 
procedures. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group and the Company recognise an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group and the Company derecognise a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the Group and the Company neither transfer nor retain substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group and the Company recognise its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group and the Company retain substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise 
the financial asset and also recognise a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. On derecognition of a 
financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(l) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the asset of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Stated capital

Ordinary shares and share premium are classified as equity.

Financial liabilities

(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables, including dividend payables and excluding statutory liabilities, are stated at cost, using the 
effective interest rate.

(ii) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(iii) Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s and the Company’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(m) Impairment of non financial assets

At the end of each reporting date, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of the tangible and 
intangible  assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

(n) Related parties

Related parties are individuals and companies where the individual or company has the ability, directly or indirectly to 
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party’s financial and operating decisions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(o) Deferred Income - grant

Grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching 
to them and that the grants will be received.

Grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses 
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary 
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including property, plant 
and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred 
to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the 
directors are required to exercise judgement and also to use estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results may differ as a result of changes in these estimates.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented separately below), 
that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

(i) Credit risk

Expected credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for 
stage 2 or stage 3. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. 
IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of 
any financial assets has significantly increased, the Group and the Company takes into account reasonable and 
supportable qualitative and quantitative historical information on recoverability and/or, where applicable, forward 
looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have a significant 
risk of causing an adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are detailed below.

(i) Estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment and Intangible Asset

Determining the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment  and Intangible Asset requires the estimation of the 
useful lives and residual values of these assets.  Estimates of useful lives and residual values carry a degree of uncertainty 
due to technological change, wear and tear and obsolescence.  The directors have used current information relating 
to expected use of assets and have benchmarked within the industry in order to determine the useful lives and residual 
values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)

(ii) Defined benefit pension plan

The subsidiary of the Group operate a defined benefit pension plan for its employees.  The reported value at reporting 
date of the defined benefit pension fund is based on reports submitted by an independent actuarial firm. The amount 
shown in the statement of financial position in respect of retirement benefit obligations is subject to estimates in respect of 
periodic costs which, would be dependent on returns on planned assets, future discount rates, rates of salary increases, 
retirement age and inflation rate in respect of the pension plans.  

(iii) Calculation of loss allowance

The Group and the Company use qualitative consideration and past payment trends to calculate ECLs for trade 
receivables. The provision rates are estimated on days past due for and no customer segmentation is considered as the 
customer base of the Group and the Company is homogeneous in nature. 

The provision estimate is initially based on the Group’s and the Company’s historical observed default payments/rates. 
Where applicable, the Group and the Company will consider for adjusting the historical credit loss experience with any 
reliable and observable forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default figures/
rates are updated and, where applicable, changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

For deposit and cash and cash equivalents, country related information or reliable analyst data are used as source for 
estimation of Probability of default (PD).

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s and 
the Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
customer’s actual default in the future. 
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) THE GROUP

Freehold
office 

premises

Office 
furniture 

and
equipment

Computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Cost
At 1 July 2020  38,873  12,036  27,541  17,292  95,742 
Additions  -    88  1,461  3,500  5,049 
Disposal  -    (68)        -  (2,800)  (2,868)
At 30 June 2021  38,873  12,056  29,002  17,992  97,923 

At 1 July 2021  38,873  12,056  29,002  17,992  97,923 
Additions  -    321  11,818  -    12,139 
Disposal  -    (477)  (6,908)  (3,019)  (10,404)
At 30 June 2022  38,873  11,900  33,912  14,973  99,658 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2020  7,557  11,257  24,142  4,793  47,749 
Charge for the year  757  333  1,106  2,813  5,009 
Disposal        -  (68)        -  (2,400)  (2,468)
At 30 June 2021  8,314  11,522  25,248  5,206  50,290 

At 1 July 2021  8,314  11,522  25,248  5,206  50,290 
Charge for the year  757  285  1,227  2,591  4,860 
Disposal        -  (431)  (6,766)  (1,121)  (8,318)
At 30 June 2022  9,071  11,376  19,709  6,676  46,832 

Net book value
At 30 June 2022  29,802  524  14,203  8,297  52,826 

At 30 June 2021  30,559  534  3,754  12,786  47,633 
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(b) THE COMPANY

Freehold
office 

premises

Office 
furniture 

and
equipment

Computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Cost 
At 1 July 2020  22,463  6,345  12,453  12,882  54,143 
Additions  -    16  990  3,500  4,506 
Disposal  -    (68)  -   (2,800)  (2,868)
At 30 June 2021  22,463  6,293  13,443  13,582  55,781 

At 1 July 2021  22,463  6,293  13,443  13,582  55,781 
Additions  -    135  11,615  -    11,750 
Disposal  -    (477)  (6,908) (3,019)  (10,404)
At 30 June 2022  22,463  5,951  18,150  10,563  57,127 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2020 4,291 5,793 10,853 3,639 24,576
Charge for the year 429 208 773 1,975 3,385
Disposal  -   (68)  -   (2,400) (2,468)
At 30 June 2021 4,720 5,933 11,626 3,214 25,493

At 1 July 2021 4,720 5,933 11,626 3,214 25,493
Charge for the year 429 152 903 1,753 3,237
Disposal  -   (431) (6,766) (1,121) (8,318)
At 30 June 2022 5,149 5,654 5,763 3,846 20,412

Net book value
At 30 June 2022  17,314  297  12,387  6,717  36,715 

At 30 June 2021  17,743  360  1,817  10,368  30,288 

The directors are of the opinion that property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company has not suffered any 
impairment as of the reporting date.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) THE GROUP

Automatic 
Trading 
System

Computer 
Software Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Cost 
At 1 July 2020 - 8,168  8,168 
Additions - 65  65 
At 30 June 2021 - 8,233 8,233
Additions 25,786 - 25,786
At 30 June 2022 25,786 8,233 34,019
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 July 2020 - 7,377 7,377
Charge for the year - 234 234
At 30 June 2021 - 7,611 7,611
Charge for the year 430 241 671
At 30 June 2022 430 7,852 8,282
Net book value
At 30 June 2022 25,356 381 25,737
At 30 June 2021  -   622 622

(b) THE COMPANY

Automatic 
Trading 
System

Computer 
Software Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Cost 
At 1 July 2020  -    922  922 
Additions  -    65  65 
At 30 June 2021  -    987  987 
Additions  25,786  -    25,786 
At 30 June 2022  25,786  987  26,773 
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 July 2020  -    246  246 
Charge for the year  -    189  189 
At 30 June 2021  -    435  435 
Charge for the year  430  197  627 
At 30 June 2022  430  632  1,062 
Net book value
At 30 June 2022  25,356  355  25,711 
At 30 June 2021  -    552  552 

The directors are of the opinion that intangible assets of the Group and the Company have not suffered any impairment 
as of the reporting date.
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7. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

2022
and 2021

The Company Rs’000

At 1 July and 30 June  7,650 

The investment in subsidiary represents 51% of the ordinary share capital of Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd 
(“CDS”), a company incorporated in Mauritius. The core business of the CDS is to provide centralised depository, 
clearing and settlement services to securities markets. At the end of the reporting year, the directors are of the opinion, 
that there has been no objective evidence of impairment.

The summarised financial information details of the non-wholly owned subsidiary that the Company have a material 
non-controlling interest are as follows:

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Current assets  99,378  53,974 
Non-current assets  234,744  258,080 
Current liabilities  36,617  29,920 
Non current liabilities  11,139  9,334 
Revenue  60,011  50,576 
Other income  14,728  13,073 
Expenses  (40,630)  (38,442)
Profit for the year  34,109  25,207 
Other comprehensive income for the year  (593)  14,360 
Total comprehensive income for the year  33,516  39,567 
Net cash generated from operating activities  30,037  23,014 
Net cash generated from/(used in)investing activities  29,123  (2,136)
Net cash used in financing activities  (15,825)  (23,700)
Net increase/(decrese) in cash and cash equivalents  43,335  (2,822)
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8. INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At Amortised Cost:
Principal Amount maturity falling:
- Within one year  206,034  131,974  128,284  105,974 

- Between two to five years  336,447  417,661  181,123  230,445 
- More than five years  160,036  92,588  150,502  83,048 

 496,483  510,249  331,625  313,493 
Interest Amount maturity falling:
- Within one year  11,790  23,642  5,535  19,068 
- After one year  14,970  16,605  5,214  5,514 

 26,760  40,247  10,749  24,582 
 729,277  682,470  470,658  444,049 

AT FVTPL:
Investment in funds:
At 1st July  31,112  10,649  -    -   
Additions  10,000  19,926  -    -   
Increase in Fair Value  1,577  537  -    -   
At 30th  June  42,689  31,112  -    -   
Total Investment  771,966  713,582  470,658  444,049 

Disclosed as follows :
- Non Current Assets  554,142  557,966  336,839  319,007 
- Current Assets  217,824  155,616  133,819  125,042 

 771,966  713,582  470,658  444,049 

The debt intruments bear interest at rates ranging from 0.75% to 6.18%  p.a. (2021: 1% to 5.35% p.a.).

The directors have considered the credit risk impact to be insignificant for the Financial assets at amortised cost at 30 
June 2022 and 30 June 2021 for the Group and the Company as the credit loss arising from general approach credit 
assessment under IFRS 9 using PD and LGD at country level is immaterial. 

Furthermore, on qualititative grounds, the directors have considered that these instruments are held with financial 
institutions which have good financial standing, acceptable operational ratios and they are reputable institutions in 
Mauritius and there was no delayed returns of principal and/or interest on maturity or as per contractual terms. 
Additionally, these financial institutions operate in a highly regulated environment monitored by the Bank of Mauritius. 
Thus, the credit loss arising from deposits held with these financial institutions are remote.
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9. STOCK EXCHANGE COMPENSATION FUND

The Board of Directors of The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd decided on 3 August 1998 to create a compensation 
fund, in accordance with section 40 of The Stock Exchange Act 1988. This fund was set up in accordance with 
sections 40 to 45 of the Stock Exchange Act 1988, which has now been replaced by Section 148 of the Securities Act 
2005.  Its objective is to compensate persons suffering from pecuniary losses from any default committed by member 
companies. An initial amount of Rs 2,750,000 was transferred out of the Company’s retained earnings for this purpose 
in 1999.  

Movements in the fund are detailed below:
THE GROUP

AND
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Balance at 1 July  5,215  5,149 
Add: Interest receivable from investments made on behalf of  Compensation Fund  81  78 

 5,296  5,227 
Less: Income tax charge arising on interest receivables  (12)  (12)

Balance at 30 June  5,284  5,215 

Net movement for the year  (69)  (66)

10. INVENTORIES
THE GROUP 

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Stationery, at cost  452  498 
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11. TRADE AND OTHER  RECEIVABLES
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Trade receivables  15,168  12,950  11,070  9,696 
Less: Impairment losses  (1,619)  (847)  (1,619) (847)

 13,549  12,103 9,451  8,849 
Loan to employees  2,712  3,658  1,641  2,100 
Dividend receivable from subsidiary  -   -  10,175  8,071 
Other receivables and prepayments  9,531  5,517  8,065  3,719 

 25,792  21,278  29,332  22,739 
Disclosed in the financial statements as follows:
Non current *  2,718  4,338  2,183  3,150 
Current  23,073  16,940  27,148  19,589 

 25,791  21,278  29,331  22,739 
Movement in Expected credit losses
Opening Balance  847 -  847  -   
Amounts recovered (343)  -   (343)  -   
Additional provision  1,115  847  1,115  847 

 1,619  847  1,619  847 

During the current financial year, the Group and the Company has provided for impairment losses amounting to Rs 
772,000 (2021: Rs 847,000).

*Included in the non current receivables of the Group and the Company are the not current portion of loans to 
employees and deferred expenditure for the Group and the Company respectively.

Trade Receivables

The average credit period on sales of services is 30 days for the Group and the Company. No interest is charged on 
the trade receivables. Before accepting any new customer, an assessment is made of the potential customer’s credit 
quality. The application of simplified approach as of 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 has resulted in insignificant 
amount of credit loss. Based on historical debt collection trends analysis, any outstanding balances are recovered within 
12 months from their invoiced date. The Group and the Company does not have any history of bad debts over the 
past three years.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

31- 60 Days  1,156  828  771  100 
61- 90 Days  2  -   -  -   
Above 90 days  2,918  2,605  1,948  2,605 

 4,076  3,433  2,719  2,705 
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Other Receivables

Loans to employees are unsecured, repayable as per the contractual terms of the agreements, ranging between one to 
eight years and granted in line with the approved policy of the Group and the Company and bearing a fixed interest 
rate at 4.5% which are reviewed every six months.

The directors have reviewed the credit risk attached to the other receivables balance (designated as financial assets, 
at amortised cost) and consider the impact to be insignificant considering that there was no past history of defaults by 
these third parties.

12. STATED CAPITAL
THE GROUP

AND
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Issued and fully paid
5,000,000 ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 
(2021: 5,000,000 shares of Rs 10 each)  50,000  50,000 
Share Premium  50  50 

 50,050  50,050 

Ordinary shares are not redeemable, carry voting rights, are entitled to dividends or distributions and on winding up to 
any surplus on assets of the company.

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS/ (ASSETS)

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Gratuity on retirement (a)  15,786  10,798  15,786  10,798 
Pension liabilities/(benefits) (b) 11,139 9,334  -    -   

 26,925  20,132  15,786  10,798 
Disclosed as follows:
Retirement benefit obligations  26,925  20,132  15,786  10,798 

a. Gratuity on retirement

The Company participates in a defined contribution (DC) pension plan for all its employees. Its contributions for DC 
employees are expensed to profit or loss and amounted to Rs 3,161,000 for the  year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: 
Rs 3,017,064).  

The Company has a residual obligation imposed by the Workers Rights Act 2019 on top of the DC plan.

Accordingly, the Company has recognised a net defined liability of Rs 15,786,118 for these gratuities in its statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2022 (2021: Rs 10,798,000).

The pension plan typically exposes the Company to the following actuarial risks:
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS/ (ASSETS) (CONT’D)

a. Gratuity on retirement (Cont’d)

Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability, however, this may be partially offset by 
a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary increases.

Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants.  As such, 
an increase in the salary of the plan participants above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas an 
increase below the assumed rate will decrease the liability.

There has been no plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the year. 
THE GROUP

AND 
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Reconciliation of Net Defined Liability Rs’000 Rs’000

At start of year  10,798  10,987 
Amount recognised in profit or loss  1,134  896 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  7,486  (1,085)
Less Employer contribution  (3,632)  -   
At end of year  15,786  10,798 
Reconciliation of Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation
At start of year  10,798  10,987 
Current Service cost  670  500 
Interest expense  464  396 
Other benefit paid  (3,632)  -   
Liability experience (gain)/loss  5,939  (437)
Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions  1,547  (648)
At end of year  15,786  10,798 
Component of amount recognised in Profit and Loss
Current service cost  670  500 
Net interest on net defined benefit obligation  464  396 

 1,134  896 
Component of amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 

Liability experience (gain)/loss  5,939  (437)
Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions  1,547  (648)

 7,486  (1,085)
Principal Assumptions used at end of period
Discount rate 4.8% 4.6%
Rate of salary increases 3.3% 3.0%
Rate of pension increases
(for residual retirement gratuities only) 0.0% 0.0%

Average retirement age (ARA)  65  65 
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS/ (ASSETS) (CONT’D)

a. Gratuity on retirement (Cont’d)

Sensitivity Analysis on Defined Benefit Obligation at end of period
THE GROUP

AND
 THE COMPANY

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Increase due to 1% decrease in discount rate  1,932  1,844 
Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate  1,694  1,617 

The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at the end of the 
period after increasing or decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged.

Future Cashflows

The funding policy is to pay benefits out of the reporting entity’s cash flow as and when due.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 9 years. There was no unrecorded residual liability 
arising at reporting date.

Retirement benefit obligations have been based on the report submitted by AON Hewitt Ltd dated 29th August 2022.

b. Pension benefits

The subsidiary operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees. The assets of the plan are held separately.

The plan exposes the subsidiary to normal risks associated with defined benefit pensions plans such as:

Investment risk: (where the plan is funded) : The plan liability is calculated using a discount rate determined by 
reference to government bond yields; if the return on plan asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit and if it is 
higher, it will create a plan surplus.

Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially offset by 
an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary and pension 
increases.

Longevity risk (where the plan is funded and an annuity is paid over life expectancy): The plan liability is calculated by 
reference to the best estimates of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase 
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan liability.

Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As such, an 
increase in the salary of the plan participants above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas an increase 
below the assumed rate will decrease the liability.

There has been no plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the year.
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

THE GROUP
2022 2021

Reconciliation of Retirement benefit liabilities Rs’000 Rs’000

At start of year  9,334  24,610 
Amount recognised in profit and loss  2,533  3,426 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  715  (17,301)
Less Employer contributions  (1,443)  (1,401)
At end of year  11,139  9,334 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:
THE GROUP

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation 51,969 48,437 
Fair value of plan assets (40,830) (39,103)
Retirement benefit liabilities, recognised in statement of financial position 11,139 9,334 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income are as follows:

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Current service cost 2,102 2,493 
Interest expense 2,422 2,186 
Interest income (1,991) (1,253)
Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognised in the year 715 (17,301)
Total included in staff costs 3,248 (13,875)

The major categories of plan assets at the reporting date are as follows:
Allocation of plan assets

2022 2021
% %

Equities - Overseas quoted  30  35 
Equities - Local quoted  36  30 
Debt - Overseas quoted  10  11 
Debt - Local quoted  13  13 
Debt - Local unquoted  4  8 
Cash and other  7  3 

 100  100 
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

Fair value of plan assets: 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Equities - Overseas quoted 12,249 13,686 
Equities - Local quoted 14,699 11,731 
Debt - Overseas quoted -  -   
Debt - Overseas unquoted 4,083 4,302 
Debt - Local quoted  5,308  5,083 
Debt - Local unquoted 1,633 3,128 
Cash and other 2,858 1,173 

40,830 39,103 
Movements in the liability recognised in the Statement of financial 
position:

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

At start of year 9,334 24,610 
Total included in staff costs as shown above 3,248 (13,875)
Less Employer Contributions (1,443) (1,401)

At end of year 11,139 9,334 

The principal actuarial assumptions used at 30 June were as follows:
2022 2021

Discount rate 5.30% 5.00%
Rate of salary increases 3.20% 3.00%
Rate of pension increases 1.90% 1.70%
Average retirement age (ARA)  65  65 
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

Sensitivity

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rate, expected salary 
increase and mortality.  The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of 
the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the period, while holding all other assumptions constant. 

2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000

Effect on present value of funded obligations
Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate 8,977 8,763
Increase due to 1% increase in discount rate 11,577 11,389
Increase due to 1% increase in salary increase rate 3,998 4,161
Decrease due to 1% increase in salary increase rate 2,443 3,623
Increase due to increase in longevity by 1 year at ARA 1,510 1,421
Decrease due to decrease in longevity by 1 year at ARA 1,562 1,469

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligations
2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000

At start of year 48,437 56,052 
Current service cost 2,102 2,493 
Interest expense 2,422 2,186 
Liability gain (992) (12,294)
At end of year 51,969 48,437 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000

At start of year 39,103 31,442 
Interest income 1,991 1,253 
Employer contributions 1,443 1,401 
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (1,707) 5,007 
At end of year 40,830 39,103 
Actual return on plan assets 284 6,260 

Distribution of plan assets at end of year 

The assets of the scheme are invested in a Deposit Administration Fund with Afri Life Insurance Ltd.
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONT’D)

History of obligations, assets and experience adjustments
2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000

Fair value of plan assets 40,830 39,103 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (51,969) (48,437)
Retirement benefit asset (11,139) (9,334)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (1,707) 5,007 
Liability experience loss during the year 992 12,294 

The expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 30 June 2023 are Rs1,491,000 
(2021: Rs 1,443,000).

Pension amounts and disclosures have been based on the report submitted by Aon Hewitt Ltd on 9 August 2022.

14. TAXATION

Income tax

Income tax is calculated at the rate of 15% (2021: 15%) on the profit for the year as adjusted for income tax purposes 
and corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) of 2%.

The Group and the Company are required to set up a CSR fund equivalent to 2% of their chargeable income of the 
preceding year to implement a CSR programme in accordance with their own CSR framework. Where the amount paid 
out of the CSR fund is less than the amount provided under the fund, the difference shall be remitted to the Director-
General at the time of submission of the income tax return of the year under review.

(i) Tax Liability THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1st July 4,715 824 3,658 1,101
Paid during the year (4,577) (4,510) (3,520) (1,058)
Overprovision on prior year’s income tax (138) (43) (138) (43)
Provision for the year 12,967 13,347 7,040 8,561
APS Paid (12,426) (5,119) (7,199) (5,119)
CSR Provision 1,760 1,947 1,123 1,151
CSR paid (1,550) (1,731) (913) (935)
At 30 June 751 4,715 51 3,658

Disclosed in the statement of financial position as 
follows :
Current Assets : Tax Receivables  -    -    -    -   
Current Liabilities : Tax Liability 751 4,715 51 3,658
At 30 June 751 4,715 51 3,658
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14. TAXATION (CONT’D)

(ii) Tax Charge THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Provision for the year 12,967 13,347 7,040 8,561 
Deferred tax movement 2,537 (149) 2,665 178 
CSR  1,760  1,947  1,123  1,151 
Overprovision on prior year’s income tax (138) (43) (138) (43)
Tax Refund for Compensation fund (12) (20) (12) (20)

17,114 15,082 10,678 9,827 

(iii) Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at the rate of 17% (2021:17%).
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  284  3,260  (154)  208 
Charge to profit or loss  (2,537)  149  (2,666)  (178)
Charge to other comprehensive income  1,395  (3,125)  1,273  (184)
At 30 June  (858)  284  (1,547)  (154)
Disclosed as follows:
Deferred tax assets  689  438  -    -   
Deferred tax (liability)  (1,547)  (154)  (1,547)  (154)

Components of Deferred Tax Liability at reporting date are as follows:

At
30-Jun
2020

Charge to
profit 
or loss

Charge
 to other

comprehensive
income

At
30-Jun
2021

Charge to
profit
or loss

Charge
 to other

comprehensive
income

At
30-Jun
2022

THE GROUP

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Accelerated 
capital 
allowances

 3,020  347  -    3,367  2,913  -    6,280 

Retirement 
benefit 
obligations

 (6,280)  (496)  3,125  (3,651)  (377)  (1,395)  (5,423)

Deferred tax 
liabilities / 
(assets)

 (3,260)  (149)  3,125  (284)  2,536 (1,395)  857 



122 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

14. TAXATION (CONT’D)

(iii) Deferred taxation (Cont’d)

Components of Deferred Tax Liability at reporting date are as follows:

At
30-Jun
2020

Charge to
profit 
or loss

Charge
 to other

comprehensive
income

At
30-Jun
2021

Charge to
profit
or loss

Charge
 to other

comprehensive
income

At
30-Jun
2022

THE 
COMPANY

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Accelerated 
capital 
allowances

 1,661 330  -  1,991  2,858  -    4,849 

Retirement 
benefit 
obligations

 (1,869)  (152) 184  (1,837)  (192)  (1,273)  (3,302)

Deferred tax 
liabilities / 
(assets)

 (208) 178 184 154  2,666  (1,273)  1,547 

(iv) Tax reconciliation
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % %

Tax at the applicable rate 17.00 17.00 17.00 17.00 
Tax effect of:
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.09 0.99 2.80 0.26 
- Exempt income, tax rate differential and other 
adjustments (6.16) (2.61) (6.57) (2.79)

- CSR adjustments 1.71 1.52 1.51 0.23 
Effective tax rate 16.64 16.90 14.74 14.70 

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Financial Liabilities, at Amortised Costs
Trade payables  8,518  7,889  345  -   
Other payables and accruals  19,651  9,400  11,856  4,251 
Amount due to subsidiary company  -    -    202  443 
Non-Financial Liabilities
Other payables and accruals  1,790  1,476  1,753  1,476 

 29,959  18,765  14,156  6,170 
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONT’D)

There was no change in the classification designated financial liabilities, at amortised costs to other class of financial 
liabilities during the financial year.

The amount due to subsidiary company is unsecured, interest free with no fixed terms of repayment.

The average credit period of trade payables is 30 days. The Group and the Company has financial risk management 
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

16. DIVIDENDS

‘Following a board resolution, a final dividend amounting to Rs 37,000,000 (Rs 7.40 per share) [2021:  Rs 
32,302,000 (Rs6.46 per share)] was declared in respect of the year ended 30 June 2022.

17. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the 
following items: 

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Staff costs  67,957  63,279  47,365  41,498 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  4,860  5,009  3,237  3,385 
Amortisation of intangible assets  671  234  626  189 
Auditors’ remuneration:
 - Audit fees to group auditors  436  347  436  347 
 - Audit fees to auditors of subsidiary  437  398  -    -   
Amortisation of grants towards purchase of 
intangible assets

 430  -    430  -   

18. REVENUE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Transaction fees  105,561  82,787  63,652  50,456 
Listing fees  60,035  60,546  42,293  42,656 
Service fees  270  270  270  270 
Annual Membership fees  630  625  270  270 

 166,496  144,228  106,485  93,652 
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19. OTHER INCOME
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Other income includes the following:
Sale of information  5,926  5,668  5,926  5,668 
Advertising income  2,350  1,525  2,350  1,525 
(Loss) Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (240)  605  (240)  605 
Miscellaneous income  3,398  3,421  1  1 
Profit on exchange  1,778  2,991  1,778  2,991 
Capital Grant  430  430 
Dividend income  708  493  10,175  8,071 

 14,350  14,703  20,420  18,861 

(b) Investment income includes the following:

Interest receivable from debt instruments and bank 
balances

 23,732  23,239  14,903  15,873 

Interest for compensation fund  81  78  81  78 
 23,813  23,317  14,984  15,951 

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to owners of the Company of Rs68,936,000 
(2021:  Rs 61,754,000) and 5,000,000 ordinary shares in issue as at 30 June 2022.

21. GUARANTEE FUND 

Section 3(8) of the Securities (Central Depository, Clearing and Settlement) Act 1996 requires the Central Depository & 
Settlement Co Ltd (CDS) to establish and maintain a Guarantee Fund for the purpose of providing an indemnity against 
any default in respect of payments for delivery of securities by any participant and of obligations of participants towards 
CDS.

The Fund is independently managed by the Business Conduct Committee (BCC) and not by the Board of Directors of 
CDS.  The BCC consists of a majority of independent members who are not directors of the CDS.
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21. GUARANTEE FUND (CONT’D)

The assets of the Guarantee Fund consist of all money accruing lawfully to that fund and of such contributions as may 
be specified in the CDS rules. The Guarantee Fund is made up as follows:-

THE GROUP
2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000

MCB deposit account  31,500  30,800 
Savings account  5,142  4,959 
Current account  17  17 
Contributions due on value of transactions  2  2 
Cash deposit from Investment dealers  (1,488)  (1,488)
Income tax payable  (65)  (63)
Interest receivable  862  1,247 

 35,970  35,474 
Movements on the fund are detailed below:-

Balance at 01 July  35,474  35,001 

Contribution made by CDS  23  18 
Initial Cash Contribution from participant  -    -   
Refund to Participant  -    -   
Interest  556  535 
Income tax  (83)  (80)

 496  473 
Balance at 30 June  35,970  35,474 
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(i) Outstanding balances

Amount payable to subsidiary  -    -    202  443 
Amount receivable from subsidiary  -    -    10,175  8,071 
Dividend payable to shareholders of the holding 
company  37,000  32,302  37,000  32,302 

(ii) Rendering of services

Annual Service fee for use of automated trading system  -    -  1,794  1,794 

(iii) Compensation of key management personnel

Short term benefits  25,797  22,224  19,087  16,906 
Post employment benefits  2,078  2,249  1,326  1,375 

 27,875  24,473  20,413  18,281 
(iv) Remuneration of directors

- Non executive  3,036  3,016  1,553  1,385 
- Executive  23,636  19,581  16,174  13,389 

 26,672  22,597  17,727  14,774 
(v) Dividend income from subsidiary  -    -    10,175  8,071 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management

The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure that they will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the returns of the stakeholders. The capital structure of the Group and the Company consists of stated 
capital and retained earnings.

The Board of Directors of the SEM has a policy of maintaining a non-distributable reserve included under retained 
earnings, representing 24 months budgeted expenditure to ensure its own business continuity and to provide a shock 
absorber to cover the ultimate risk when all other risk mechanisms have been exhausted.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial assets, 
financial liabilities and equity instruments are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements.

Categories of financial instruments
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2022 2021 2022 2021
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Financial assets, at amortised costs  758,313  745,223  496,080  484,426 
Financial assets, at FVTPL  42,689  31,112  -    -   

 801,002  776,335  496,080  484,426 
Financial liabilities, at amortised costs  58,785  42,060  51,193  36,911 

The financial assets, at FVTPL refers to investment made in a domestic fund, which has been regrouped under Investments 
in financial assets in the statement of financial position. The fair value of the investment has been determined by using 
the NAV of the Fund whose underlying was fair valued for the purpose of NAV computation. This investment is unquoted 
and thus, it is classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierachy as per IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements. 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Foreign Currency risk

The Group and  Company are mainly exposed to currency risk of USD, GBP relative to MUR.

Currency Profile THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Financial Assets
MUR  722,158  730,714  444,106  440,018 
USD  72,688  39,128  46,106  38,167 
GBP  6,003  6,441  5,868  6,241 
Others  153  52  -    -   

 801,002  776,335  496,080  484,426 
  

Financial Liabilities
MUR  53,340  42,060  45,748  36,911 
USD  5,445  -    5,445  -   
GBP  -    -    -    -   

 58,785  42,060  51,193  36,911 

The following table details the group’s and company’s sensitivity to a 5% increase  in United States Dollars (USD) and 
Great Britain Pound (GBP)  against the Mauritian Rupee (MUR).  A positive number below indicates an increase in profit 
where USD and GBP strengthen 5% against MUR.  For a 5% weakening of USD and GBP against the relevant currency, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Increase in Profit and Equity
USD 3,362  1,956  2,033  1,908  
GBP 300  322  293  312  

3,662  2,278   2,326  2,220 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Credit risk

The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to their financial assets.  The impact of the financial 
assets (trade and other receivables and investments in financial assets) has been disclosed in the note 8 and note 11. 
The credit risk attached to bank balances are insignificant based on the country credit rating of these financial institutions 
and qualitative factors like reputation of the financial institutions. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 
statement of financial position, represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group and the Company do not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group 
of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group and the Company define counterparties as having similar 
characteristics. Concentration of risk is limited due to the customer base being large and diverse.

Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are not significantly exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing levels of market interest rates on their financial position and cash flows as they do not hold significant variable 
interest bearing instruments.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets as at 30 June is as follows:

THE GROUP
AND 

THE COMPANY
2022 2021

% %

Deposits 0.75-6.18 1- 5.9

 Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s and the Company’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group and the Company manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Financial liabilities, at amortised costs are payable within one year, except for the amount payable to related party 
which is repayable on demand.

Fair value of financial instruments

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the financial 
statements approximate their fair values.
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24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Authorised by the Board of Directors but not contracted for:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Commitments for the acquisition of property
Plant and equipment  3,863  14,180  1,860  12,637 

25. DEFERRED INCOME - GRANT

The Company has received a grant amounting to USD 590,000 from the African Development Bank (AfDB) for the 
new ATS System.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2022 2021 2022 2021

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Current 2,579  - 2,579  -
Non-current 22,777  - 22,777  -

25,356  - 25,356  -

The grant was to support the increase of the financial investment on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) and the 
acceleration of the financial integration with SADC’s stock exchanges. The grant will be recognised in Profit or loss on 
a straight line basis over the useful life of the related asset. There are no unfulfiled conditions or other contingencies 
attaching to this grant.

26. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There has been no material events after the reporting date which require disclosure or amendment to the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.
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MEMBER COMPANIES

9 investment dealers operate on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. Each investment dealer holds a license granted by the 
Financial Services Commission. Investment dealers are required to have at least one duly licensed representative who shall be 
entitled to carry out the functions of the investment dealer

  Name Address/E-Mail  Representatives of Investment 
dealers

AXYS Stockbroking Ltd

7th Floor, Dias Pier Building
Le Caudan Waterfront
Caudan
Port-Louis
Tel:4054000
Fax:2133478
E-Mail:stockbroking@axys-group.com 

- Mr Melvyn Chung Kai To
- Mrs Fabiola Yit Niuc

Capital Markets Brokers Ltd

Alexander House,
35 Cybercity, Ebene.
Tel:4020280
Fax:454-0430
E-Mail:traders@cmb.mu

- Mr Tommy Lo Seen Chong

DMH Stockbroking Ltd Place Du Moulin
Port Louis Waterfront 
Port Louis 
11037
Tel: 212-3535 
Fax: 208-6294
 E-Mailtrading@dmh.mu.

 - Mr Sajesh Baboolall

LCF Securities Ltd 1st Floor, Eagle House
15 A, Wall Street
Ebene
Tel: 433-8388
Fax: 433-5953
EMail:tradedesk.mauritius@lcfsecurities.com

 Mr Teeluckraj Tapesar

MCB Stockbrokers Ltd 1st Floor
Raymond Lamusse Building
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis
Tel: 202-5245 / 202-5427
Fax: 208-9210
E-Mail:mcbsb@mcbcm.mu

- Mr Kevin Rangasami
- Mr Sunil Seeam
- Mr Kamlesh Beeharry
- Mr Ashveen Chummun
- Mrs Marie Ange Tse Rai Wai
- Mrs Micheline Ng Yuen Yan
- Mrs Reena Ramsurrun
- Mr Derek Sum Ping
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MEMBER COMPANIES (CONT’D)

  Name Address/E-Mail  Representatives of Investment 
dealers

MUA Stockbroking Ltd 3rd Floor, Travel House
Cnr Sir William Newton Street & Royal Street
Port-Louis
Tel: 212-3038
Fax :212-6690
E-Mail:  traders@muastockbroking.mu

- Mr Pierre de Chasteigner du Mée
- Mrs Roselyn Phanjoo
- Mrs Patricia Kolfir
- Mrs Irene Landinaff
- Mrs Siow Han Chung
- Mrs Kaminee Syea

Redwood Finance Limited Moorgate House (Ground Floor)
Sir William Newton Street
Port Louis
Tel:2142515 / 52581070
E-Mail: mitesh.hasasamal@redwood-finance.net 

Mitesh Hassamal

SBM Capital Markets Ltd Level 11,
Hennessy Tower
Pope Hennessy Street
Port Louis
Tel :202-1437 / 202-1438 / 202-1551
Fax: 212-1710
E-Mail:
scmltrading@sbmgroup.mu

- Mrs Reedhee (Anoushka) Bhuttoo
- Mrs Patricia Dholah
- Mr Dharmeshsing Mohadewo
- Mrs Sanjana Seetahul

Swan Securities Ltd 3rd Floor, Swan Centre
10 ,Intendance Street 
Port-Louis
Tel: 208-7010
Fax: 212-9867
E-Mail: securities@swanforlife.com

- Mr Neeraj Umanee
- Ms Aisha Bibi Yoosoof Parak 
- Mr Pourbarlen Comarasawmy
- Mrs Krishma Mungur
 - Ms Virginie Desjardins
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LISTED COMPANIES 

OFFICIAL MARKET

BANKS, INSURANCE & OTHER FINANCE
CIM Financial Services Ltd
MUA Ltd
MCB Group Limited (Ordinary)
MCB Group Limited (Preference)
SBM Holdings Ltd
Swan General Ltd

COMMERCE 
Harel Mallac Ltd
IBL Ltd
Innodis Ltd
Vivo Energy Mauritius Ltd

INDUSTRY 
Gamma Civic Ltd
Go Life International Ltd
Mauritius Chemical & Fertilizer Industry Ltd
Mauritius Oil Refineries Ltd
Phoenix Beverages Ltd
PIM Ltd
United Basalt Products Ltd

INVESTMENTS 
Alteo Limited
BMH Ltd
Caudan Development Ltd
CIEL Limited
ENL Limited 
Fincorp Investment Ltd
Medine Limited
National Investment Trust Ltd
P.O.L.I.C.Y Ltd
Promotion and Development Ltd
Rogers & Company Ltd
Terra Mauricia Ltd
The Mauritius Development Investment Trust Co. Ltd
United Docks Ltd

LEISURE & HOTELS 
Automatic Systems Ltd
Lottotech Ltd
Lux Island Resorts Ltd
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd (Ordinary)
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd (Preference)
Sun Limited

PROPERTY
Ascencia Ltd
BlueLife Limited

SUGAR
Omnicane Limited
 
DEBT
Ascencia Ltd – Redeemable Bonds
MCB Group Limited - 5-year Notes
MCB Group Limited - 10-year Notes
MCB Group Limited - FLRNMUR7Y Notes
SBM Holdings Ltd - Class A 1 Series Bonds
SBM Holdings Ltd - Class A 2 Series Bond
SBM Holdings Ltd - Class B 2 Series Bond

DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS
African Export Import Bank

EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS
Africa Domestic Bond Fund
MCB India Sovereign Bond ETF
NewFunds S&P GIVI South Africa Top 50 Index ETF Portfolio
NewGold Issuer Limited (RF) Gold Bullion Debentures

FOREIGN 
Dale Capital Group Limited 
Grit Real Estate Income Group Ltd
PSG Konsult Limited 

GLOBAL AND SPECIALISED FUNDS
Ekada India Focus Fund Ltd
Global Investment Opportunities Fund Limited
Harwood Investments 
Imara African Opportunities Fund Limited
IPRO Growth Fund Ltd
Kotak Investment Opportunities Fund Limited
Novare Africa Fund PCC - Novare Africa Property Fund I
Novare Africa Fund PCC - Novare Africa Property Fund II
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited
Warwyck Phoenix PCC - Warwyck Phoenix Global Invest Fund 2
Warwyck Phoenix PCC - Warwyck Phoenix Global Invest Fund 6



135

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF MAURITIUS LTD - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

LISTED COMPANIES (CONT’D) 

OFFICIAL MARKET (CONTINUED)

GLOBAL  BUSINESS  COMPANIES
Africa Clean Energy Solutions Limited
Africure Pharmaceuticals Ltd
Arindo Holdings (Mauritius) Limited
Astoria Investments Limited
Avanz Growth Markets Limited
Bayport Management Limited
Bravura Holdings Limited
Crytel Mauritius Limited
Infrastructure Commodities (Mauritius) Ltd
MeritWise Group Public Limited
New Frontier Properties Ltd
Paradise Hospitality Group  Ltd
SREE AGRO Ltd
Tadvest Limited
Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd
Universal Partners Limited

SPECIALISED  DEBT  SECURITIES
Brait Investment Holdings Limited – Exchangeable Bonds due 2024 
Brait PLC – Convertible Bonds due 2024
CIM Financial Services Ltd - 3.30% Notes due 2023
CIM Financial Services Ltd - 4.00% Notes due 2025
CIM Financial Services Ltd - 4.20% Notes due 2022
CIM Financial Services Ltd - 4.75% Notes due 2030
CIM Financial Services Ltd - 4.85% Notes due 2024
Eastern and Southern African Trade and Development Bank
Evaco Ltd – 5-year EUR Notes
Evaco Ltd – 5-year MUR Notes
Evaco Ltd - Floating Rate Notes
Forty Two Point Two – 2.70% Notes due 2024
Forty Two Point Two – 2.70% Notes due 2026
Forty Two Point Two – 3.20% Notes due 2026 
Forty Two Point Two – 3.55% Notes due 2028
IBL Ltd - Series 2 Notes
IBL Ltd - Series 3 Notes
IBL Ltd - Series 4 Notes
IBL Ltd - Series 5 Notes
Innodis Ltd - Tranche 1 Notes due 2023
Innodis Ltd - Tranche 2 Notes due 2026
Innodis Ltd - Tranche 3 Notes due 2026
Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FRNEUR5Y
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FLRNEUR5Y 
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FLRNUSD5Y 
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LISTED COMPANIES (CONT’D)

OFFICIAL MARKET (CONTINUED)

SPECIALISED  DEBT  SECURITIES
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FRNEUR5Y
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FRNMUR5Y
IOST Company Ltd - Tranche FRNMUR5Y
Kingfisher Ltd – Tranche A Notes – FRNEUR5Y
Kingfisher Ltd – Tranche B Notes – FRNEUR5Y
Kingfisher Ltd – Tranche C Notes – FRNEUR5Y
Medine Limited - Tranche FLRNMUR7Y
Medine Limited - Tranche FRNMUR5Y
Medine Limited - Tranche FRNMUR7Y
Meridian CRV Limited - Tranche 1 Notes due 2022
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd - Tranche  FLRNMUR5Y
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd - Tranche  FLRNMUR7Y
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd - Tranche  FRNMUR5Y
New Mauritius Hotels Ltd - Tranche  FRNMUR7Y
Northfields International High School Ltd - Notes
Premium Tobacco Holdings Ltd - Series 2 Notes
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited - Tranche FLRNEUR4Y
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited - Tranche FLRNEUR5Y
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited - Tranche FLRNMUR10Y
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited - Tranche FLRNMUR7Y
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited - Tranche FRNMUR5Y
Sun Limited - Tranche FLRNMUR7Y
Sun Limited - Tranche FRNMUR7Y 
Tensai Property Services Ltd - First Tranche
Tensai Property Services Ltd - Second Tranche

STRUCTURED PRODUCTS
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0003 Notes
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0004 Notes
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0005 Notes
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0006 Notes
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0007 Notes
Absa Bank Limited - Series ASN.D0008 Notes
CM Diversified Credit Ltd - Secured Credit-Linked Notes
CM Structured Products (2) Ltd - Secured Credit-Linked Notes
CM Structured Finance (1) Ltd - Secured Credit-Linked Notes
MCB Structured Solutions Ltd - Crescendo World Market Leaders MUR55 Notes
MCB Structured Solutions Ltd - Crescendo World Market Leaders MUR130 Notes
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LISTED COMPANIES (CONT’D) 

BANKS & INSURANCE & OTHER FINANCE
ABC Banking Corporation Limited
Swan Life Ltd

COMMERCE 
ABC Motors Company Limited
Associated Commercial Company Ltd
Compagnie Immobilière Limitée

INDUSTRY 
Forges Tardieu Limited
Kolos Cement Ltd
Les Gaz Industriels Ltée
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée (Ordinary)
Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée (Preference)
Livestock Feed Limited (Ordinary)
Livestock Feed Limited (Preference)
Mauritius Cosmetics Limited
Mauritius Secondary Industries Ltd
Paper Converting Company Limited
Quality Beverages Limited
Soap & Allied Industries Limited

INVESTMENT
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited
Phoenix Investment Company Limited
RHT Holding Ltd
The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
United Investments Ltd

LEISURE & HOTELS 
Constance Hotels Services Limited
Morning Light Co Ltd
Southern Cross Tourist Company Limited
Tropical Paradise Co Ltd (Ordinary)
Tropical Paradise Co Ltd (Preference)

OTHERS 
Compagnie Des Villages de Vacances L’Isle de France 
Limitée (COVIFRA)
Hotelest Limited
C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd
MFD Group Limited
Oceanarium (Mauritius) Ltd
SIT Land Holdings Ltd - Options

PROPERTY 
Attitude Property Ltd
Happy World Property Ltd
Lavastone Ltd
Novus Properties Ltd
Semaris Ltd

SUGAR 
Constance La Gaiete Company Limited
The Union Sugar Estates Company Ltd

TRANSPORT AND LOGISTICS
Velogic Holding Company Ltd
United Bus Service Ltd

DEBENTURES/ BONDS 
New Futures Ltd - Secured Floating Rate bonds

DEVELOPMENT & ENTERPRISE MARKET




